

European Union Network for the Implementation and Enforcement of Environmental Law

# Monitoring large marine vertebrates along fixed transects from ferries and cargo vessels: data analysis to fill the requirements of the EU regulative environmental framework.

Date of report: June 2024

Report number: 2022(VI)WG4



IMPEL is funded by a "FRAMEWORK PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT" with European Commission DIRECTORATE-GENERAL FOR ENVIRONMENT - LIFE PROGRAMME (ENV.E.4/FPA/2022/001 – IMPEL)



### **Introduction to IMPEL**

The European Union Network for the Implementation and Enforcement of Environmental Law (IMPEL) is an international non-profit association of the environmental authorities of the EU Member States, acceding and candidate countries of the European Union and EEA countries. The association is registered in Belgium and its legal seat is in Brussels, Belgium.

IMPEL was set up in 1992 as an informal Network of European regulators and authorities concerned with the implementation and enforcement of environmental law. The Network's objective is to create the necessary impetus in the European Community to make progress on ensuring a more effective application of environmental legislation. The core of the IMPEL activities concerns awareness raising, capacity building and exchange of information and experiences on implementation, enforcement and international enforcement collaboration as well as promoting and supporting the practicability and enforceability of European environmental legislation.

During the previous years, IMPEL has developed into a considerable, widely known organisation, being mentioned in a number of EU legislative and policy documents, e.g., the 7th Environment Action Programme and the Recommendation on Minimum Criteria for Environmental Inspections, and more recently in the General Union Environment Action Programme to 2030 and EU Action Plan: 'Towards Zero Pollution for Air, Water and Soil'.

The expertise and experience of the participants within IMPEL make the network uniquely qualified to work on both technical and regulatory aspects of EU environmental legislation.

Information on the IMPEL Network is also available through its website at: www.impel.eu



Title of the report:	Number report:
Monitoring large marine vertebrates along fixed transects from ferries and cargo vessels (vol. 3). Data analysis to fill the requirements	2022(VI)WG4
of the EU regulative environmental framework	
Project Manager: Roberto Crosti (IT)	Report adopted at IMPEL
Authors: Ilaria Campana, Morgana Vighi, Alessia Scuderi, Accademia	General Assembly Meeting:
del Leviatano (IT), in collaboration with the IMPEL "EU Marine	26-28 June 2024, Brussels
Transborder Transects" (MTT) project participants:	Total number of pages: 63
IMPEL participants of member organization: Antonella Arcangeli, Roberto Crosti, Marco Falconi, Carmen Mifsud, Ana Isabel Tété	Report: 63
Garcia, Tiziana Chieruzzi, Elena Santini.	Annexes: 0
Non-IMPEL member organization participants: Léa David, Ana Mafalda Correia, Odei Garcia-Garin, Paola Tepsich, Lucy Babey, Miriam Paraboschi, Matteo Costantino, Marta Azzolin, Fulvio Maffucci, Martina Gregorietti, Lara Carosso, Nynge Osinga.	

#### **Executive Summary**

The existing environmental legislation for the protection of marine species operates at international, regional seas and European level; in general, this wide framework requires the monitoring of the status of the species and of their interactions with environmental and anthropogenic parameters for conservation purposes.

Large marine vertebrates, such as cetaceans and sea turtles, range across national boundaries and beyond national waters, therefore collaborative efforts are needed to respond these legislation requirements. In fact, the recent policies for the protection of marine ecosystems have directed efforts across national jurisdictions and through area-based management measures.

Systematic data collected from large vessels along fixed routes, such as those within the MTT project, are useful to monitor these species and this document highlights how they can be analysed to address the main policy requirements at European level.

Despite the differences in resolution and indicators applied by the various policies, the most important and common parameters relevant to large marine vertebrates (Population – Range – Habitat) can be deeply investigated using the robust information obtained from the long-term monitoring programmes involved in the MTT project. As well, long-term data series can be used to investigate the



trends of those parameters over time.

Finally, this document also describes how data on potential threats that need to be addressed according to the EU legislative framework (i.e., maritime traffic, pollution by marine litter) are collected and analysed in order to identify priority conservation areas and seasons, and support effective mitigation actions towards marine species.

#### Disclaimer

This report is the result of a project within the IMPEL network. The content does not necessarily represent the view of the national administrations or the Commission.

#### Quotation

It shall be permissible to make quotations from an IMPEL Document which has already been available to the public on the IMPEL website, provided that their making is compatible with fair practice, and their extent does not exceed that justified by the purpose. Where use is made of works in accordance with <u>Berne Convention</u>, mention should be made of related IMPEL Document Name with giving publication link of the document on IMPEL Website. IMPEL has all rights under the Berne Convention.



## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE	7
1.1 Scope of the document	
2 THE POLICY CONTEXT	10
2.1 Environmental regulative framework in European waters	10
2.1.1 International Organisations	10
2.1.2 International Conventions	
2.1.3 Regional Sea Conventions	
2.1.4 European Directives	14
3 POLICY REQUIREMENTS	
3.1 Main attributes of the species: parameters/criteria and indicators	20
3.1.1 Population	21
3.1.2 Distributional Range	22
3.1.3 Habitat for the Species	23
3.1.4 Future Prospects/Trends	23
4 DATA ANALYSES TO COMPLY WITH THE EU REQUIREMENTS: EXAM MTT NETWORK	PLES FROM THE
4.1 Preliminary analyses	25
4.2 Analyses for "Population"	
4.2.1 Abundance indices	
4.2.2 Abundance – Distance sampling	29
4.2.3 Trends	30



4.3 Analyses for "Range"	
4.3.1 Observed distributional range	32
4.3.2 Spatial generalisation of range	33
4.3.3 Trends	35
4.4 Analyses for "Habitat for the species"	
4.4.1 Suitable habitat – ecological potential range	
4.4.2 Trends	40
5 THREATS AND OTHER COLLATERAL DATA COLLECTED WITHIN THE	
5.1 Maritime traffic	42
5.1 Maritime traffic	42 
5.1 Maritime traffic	42 42 
5.1 Maritime traffic	42 44 44 44 44 
5.1 Maritime traffic 5.2 Marine litter 5.3 Climate change 5.4 Environmental DNA data and other environmental samples	42 42 42 42 44 44 46 47 49



## 1 Introduction and scope

Marine top predators play a crucial role for the conservation of the marine environment (Bowen, 1997). In particular, large marine vertebrates, such as cetaceans and sea turtles, are often referred as "keystone species", due to their relevant ecological role in the environment they inhabit, "umbrella species" because of their significant influence on other species and ecosystems (Sergio et al, 2008), and are considered indicator species, being overly sensitive and responsive to variations in the health of the marine ecosystem and in their general habitat conditions (Wells et al, 2004; MacLeod et al, 2005; Williamson et al, 2021). These species have been chosen as targets for dedicated assessment and monitoring programs, as the measures implemented directly for their protection tend to act for the conservation of marine ecosystems in general (Sergio et al, 2008; Patricio et al, 2016; Teixeira et al, 2016), and a focus on these species can contribute to the implementation of the "ecosystems approach" in marine conservation (Parsons et al, 2010).

Despite the several studies produced on their ecology and conservation status, marine mammals and sea turtles are still relatively poorly known: they are wide-ranging and long-living elusive species that live a fully aquatic life. According to the assessments provided within the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN), several cetacean species are data deficient. The European Environmental Agency Report (Röschel et al, 2020, EEA, N. 10/2020) states that "marine mammals (including cetaceans) are among the species with the highest proportion of unknown assessments (over 78%)", and most of the species considered within the EU Habitats Directive are assessed by means of 'Expert opinion' (Arcangeli et al, 2022). The lack of information to produce a proper conservation status assessment may lead to the lack of management actions for these species (Parsons, 2016). On the other hand, around 25% of all cetacean species and 85% of sea turtles species are considered critically endangered, endangered, or vulnerable (IUCN SSC, 2021).

The marine ecosystem is indeed affected by a growing number of threats, derived by the constant increase of human activities and pressures, which also affect the offshore habitats where most large marine vertebrates live (Evans et al, 2012; OSPAR, 2014; ORCA 2019). These interactions between species and anthropogenic pressures should be identified and quantified at basin scale in order to develop and implement successful conservation and management measures (McClellan et al, 2014; Arcangeli et al, 2019; David et al, 2022). As this information is also required by a wide legislative framework, large-scale and long-term data can be crucial to respond to current policy requests.



As reported by Palialexis et al (2019), survey-based assessments are suitable methods to infer the distribution of species and allow the concurrent monitoring of several species; ferries and large commercial vessels provide valuable platforms to carry out long-term monitoring programs across large geographic scales, throughout several seasons and years. For example, data collected in Atlantic North Sea from observers of the Rugvin Foundation were used by the Dutch Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality, for government policy study carried out by Statistics Netherlands. The results included a trend analyses as well as information on how data collected by ferry surveys contribute, together with other Dutch cetacean monitoring projects, in the context of quality assurance of monitoring in the North Sea (Poot and Soldaat, 2022). The application of common standards for data collection within large-scale surveys is indeed leading to a growing consistency across European research bodies, as is the case of the "MTT - Marine Transborder Transect" project partners (Campana and Vighi, 2020). To date, many research papers have been published addressing the presence, abundance, distribution, habitat use and trends of large vertebrate species using data collected from fixed-route vessels, and have provided relevant information on species biodiversity, conservation status, as well as for some of the main threats faced by the species. These networks represent an important tool for tackling the scientific questions and priorities posed by the EU environmental legislation with respect to large marine vertebrates living in offshore waters.

## 1.1 Scope of the document

The key to carry out proper conservation science rests on the ability of policy and science to effectively interact to identify the questions of higher concern. However, the growing body of environmental law and the intrinsic differences among Member States, with different legal and administrative capacities, lead to a high level of non-compliance of environmental directives in the EU (Börzel and Buzogány, 2019). Clear scientific outputs are needed by the administrators to evaluate the efficiency of their management actions at local, regional, national and European level. The broader the level, the more complex the process of collating information is, given the higher number of countries involved and the different scales that need to be investigated. In fact, for mobile marine species, which range across national boundaries and beyond EU waters, a national focus is inappropriate, and collaborative efforts are needed (Murphy et al, 2019).

This document is intended to provide a description of the existing international regulative framework concerning the marine environment (Chapter 2), specifying the main requirements for what concerns large marine vertebrate species (Chapter 3), with the aim of highlighting how the data collected from large vessels on such species, the threats they face, and other relevant



environmental parameters, can be used to address the main policy requirements at European level (Chapters 4 and 5).



## 2 The policy context

The European Commission considers cetacean and marine turtle species in several of its environmental policies. A large framework of the EU legislation for the protection of the species and/or marine biodiversity requires the monitoring of the status of the species and of their interactions with environmental and anthropogenic parameters for conservation purposes (for details see Campana and Vighi, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2022). Large marine vertebrates can be effectively protected only by means of international cooperation, given their high mobility, the large-scale connectivity of the marine ecosystem and the oceanic dynamics. Indeed, wide approaches have been developed for a better understanding of this environment (Hoyt, 2011; Evans et al, 2012; Girard et al, 2022), and the recent policies for the protection of marine ecosystems have directed efforts across national jurisdictions and through area-based management measures (Murphy et al, 2019). However, there is still a limited communication between the scientific community, the policy makers and the general public, and more efforts are needed to support the application of scientific information into legislative and administrative actions (Pullin et al, 2009; Authier et al, 2018; Börzel and Buzogány, 2019).

### 2.1 Environmental regulative framework in European waters

This section describes the main policy framework concerning marine conservation and lists the most relevant stakeholders promoting the conservation of large marine vertebrates across European waters. International organisations and conventions are listed and briefly described, along with relevant EU directives. Table 1 summarises the main objectives, requirements and initiatives implemented within each of them, with a particular focus, where relevant, on the topics that can be addressed using data systematically collected by the European monitoring networks. A more extensive description can be found in Campana and Vighi (2020).

#### 2.1.1 International Organisations

#### International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN)

The key objective of IUCN is to share scientific knowledge through its conservation databases, such as the Red List of Threatened Species and the Database of Key Biodiversity Areas (KBAs, IUCN, 2015). The IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas (WCPA) Marine Vice Chair, and members of the IUCN Species Survival Commission (SSC) contributed, in 2013, to the creation of the Marine Mammal Protected Areas



Task Force (MMPATF), with the main objective to identify Important Marine Mammal Areas (IMMAs), defined as *"discrete portions of habitat, important to marine mammal species, that have the potential to be delineated and managed for conservation"*, that will include marine mammals into existing conservation tools (i.e., marine protected areas, IUCN, 2016).

#### International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES)

The goal of ICES is to advance and share scientific understanding of marine ecosystems and the services they provide, and to use this knowledge to generate state-of-the-art advice for management and sustainability goals.

#### International Whaling Commission (IWC)

Set up with the purpose of conserving whale stocks by applying specific regulatory measures (e.g., Revised Management Procedure), the IWC also undertakes extensive study and research on cetacean populations, through Conservation Management Plans (CMPs) and the definition of Critical Cetacean Habitat (CCH). Additionally, the IWC also collaborates with the IUCN and the International Maritime Organization (IMO) to develop mitigation measures on ship strikes (IWC, 2023).

#### 2.1.2 International Conventions

#### The Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES)

Established within an IUCN meeting, CITES aims at regulating wildlife trade and ensuring that it does not threaten their survival. Appendix I of the convention lists the species threatened with extinction, and includes several cetacean species and all sea turtle species.

#### The Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats (BCCEW)

The BCCEW aims to conserve wild flora and fauna and their natural habitats, as well as to promote European cooperation in this field. All cetacean and sea turtle species are listed as Strictly Protected Fauna Species in Appendix II, or as species that can be exploited in Appendix III. The convention also designates Areas of Special Conservation Interest (ASCI). All parties submit biennial reports that provide a scientific assessment of the impact of the measures implemented to protect the species and habitats covered by the Convention.

#### The Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS)

The aim of this Convention is to provide a global platform to conserve terrestrial, aquatic and avian migratory species across their full range, throughout their habitats and migration routes; it *"brings together the States through which migratory animals pass, the Range States, and lays the legal foundation for internationally coordinated conservation measures throughout a migratory range"*. Most cetacean and marine turtle species are highlighted as priority species (in danger of extinction in Appendix I, or in unfavourable conservation status in Appendix II). The CMS promoted the creation of two regional agreements for the conservation of cetaceans in European waters:



## The Agreement on the Conservation of Small Cetaceans of the Baltic, North East Atlantic, Irish and North Seas (ASCOBANS)

ASCOBANS suggests conservation, research and management measures and recommends adequate surveillance schemes to the signatory countries (Parties), under the general conservation objective "to allow populations to recover to and/or maintain 80% of carrying capacity in the long term".

## The Agreement for the Conservation of Cetaceans in the Black Sea, Mediterranean Sea and Atlantic contiguous waters (ACCOBAMS)

ACCOBAMS promotes and facilitates active regional cooperation at all levels, providing best expertise and standards, and recommends the implementation of monitoring activities and effective protection measures for cetacean species throughout its region. The overall objective of the recent ACCOBAMS Strategy (2019) is *"to improve the conservation status of cetaceans and of their habitats in the area of competence of the Agreement by 2030"*.

#### The Convention of Biological Diversity (CBD)

The CBD has three main objectives: the conservation of biological diversity; the sustainable use of the components of biological diversity; the fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the utilisation of genetic resources. To measure the progress toward the convention targets, and to assess the effectiveness of protected area designation, conservation, and marine resource management policy, Biodiversity Indicators (including cetaceans) have been adopted. Scientific criteria are applied for identifying ecologically or biologically significant marine areas (EBSAs) in need of protection.

#### The Law of the Sea Convention (UNCLOS)

UNCLOS establishes rules that govern all uses of the oceans and their resources. The convention states that countries shall protect and preserve the marine environment, including the areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction (ABNJ), and set forth detailed measures to be taken, such as the definition of the exclusive economic zone (EEZ). Within the conservation of biological resources, cetaceans are considered in Annex I (highly migratory species). The concept of *"Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources"* (i.e., ABNJ) has been included as goal 14 among the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by world leaders, in the *UN Sustainable Development* commitment of States to develop an international legally binding instrument for a joint management of the ABNJ.

#### 2.1.3 Regional Sea Conventions

Within the different regional seas surrounding Europe, the Regional Sea Conventions (RSCs) engage neighbouring countries for the conservation of their common marine environment. Their work areas cover maritime activities and pressures, as well as biodiversity and ecosystems' protection. The RSCs implement coordinated monitoring programmes in the regional sea basins, and perform joint assessments of the state of the environment. Four RSCs are active across EU waters:

#### *The Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic (OSPAR)*



OSPAR works under the umbrella of UNCLOS and is guided by the ecosystem approach to an integrated management of human activities in the marine environment. Its objective is to protect the maritime area against the adverse effects of human activities, to safeguard health and to conserve marine ecosystems and restore areas that have been adversely affected. Under the convention, Member States are required to undertake assessments of the quality status of the marine environment (Annex IV), and of the effects of the measures taken for conservation of the ecosystems and biological diversity under Annex V (including 7 cetacean species), at six-year intervals (Quality Status Report, QSR). To monitor environmental quality the Commission adopted a Coordinated Environmental Monitoring Programme (CEMP) aiming to deliver comparable data from across the OSPAR Maritime Area, which can be used in the assessments and for the coordinated implementation of other policies among Member States (HD, MSFD, ASCOBANS). Indicator M4 of the programme is related to marine mammals' abundance and distribution (OSPAR, 2014).

## *The Convention for Protection of the Mediterranean Sea against Pollution (Barcelona Convention, UNEP-MAP)*

Since the adoption of the Mediterranean Action Plan (UNEP/MAP) for the protection of the marine environment and the sustainable development of the coastal areas of the Mediterranean, Parties are called to protect areas of particular natural or cultural value, through the establishment of Specially Protected Areas (SPAs) or Specially Protected Areas of Mediterranean Importance (SPAMIs), and to protect the threatened or endangered species of flora and fauna listed in the SPA/BD Protocol's Annexes. The conservation of marine turtles and cetaceans has been a priority for UNEP/MAP through the adoption of specific Action Plans for Conservation.

The Integrated Monitoring and Assessment Programme of the Mediterranean Sea and Coast and Related Assessment Criteria (IMAP) contains the principles for an integrated monitoring of biodiversity, nonindigenous species, pollution and marine litter, coast, and hydrography, and requires 6 years reporting periods, but recommends shorter reporting intervals to depict seasonal and inter-annual changes. The IMAP implementation is structured on 11 Ecological Objectives and 27 Common Indicators: under the Ecological Objective 1 (*"Biological diversity is maintained or enhanced"*), the abundance and occurrence of coastal and marine habitats and species (including marine mammals, seabirds, and marine reptiles) should be in line with prevailing physiographic, hydrographic, geographic and climatic conditions.

UNEP/MAP also promoted local agreements between Italy, France and Principality of Monaco, such as the **RAMOGE** on the protection of Mediterranean coastal waters, which promotes integrated coastal management and deals with issues such as pollution from land-based sources (including marine macro litter and general waste); and the **Pelagos Sanctuary**, a SPAMI that was established to ensure the proper state of conservation of marine mammal populations.

## *The Convention on the Protection of the Marine Environment in the Baltic Sea Area (Helsinki Convention, HELCOM)*

HELCOM aims to protect the Baltic Sea from all sources of pollution from land, air and sea, as well as to preserve biological diversity and to promote the sustainable use of marine resources. The Baltic Sea Action Plan (BSAP), adopted by the HELCOM Contracting Parties in 2007 and updated in 2021, is the strategic



programme of measures and actions that should be adopted to achieve good environmental status of the sea, ultimately leading to a Baltic Sea in a healthy state. HELCOM performs periodic holistic assessments (HOLAS) that give a comprehensive overview of the ecosystem health of an entire regional sea and assist the region's environmental managers and decision-makers, so that they can base their work on sound, up-to-date knowledge of the status of the sea.

#### The Convention for the Protection of the Black Sea (Bucharest Convention, Black Sea Commission, BSC)

The BSC is the intergovernmental body established in implementation of the Convention on the Protection of the Black Sea Against Pollution, its protocols and the Strategic Plan for the protection and Rehabilitation of the Black Sea (1996). Among others, it aims to elaborate criteria pertaining to the prevention, reduction and control of pollution of the marine environment of the Black Sea and to the elimination of the effects of pollution, as well as recommendations on measures to this effect, and to promote the adoption by the Contracting Parties of additional measures needed to protect the regional waters, and to that end receive, process and disseminate to the Contracting Parties relevant scientific, technical and statistical information and promote scientific and technical research.

#### 2.1.4 European Directives

#### The Habitats Directive (HD)

The aim of the HD is "to promote the maintenance of biodiversity, taking account of economic, social, cultural and regional requirements" and to take action to maintain or restore natural habitats and species at favourable conservation status (FCS). Conservation status is defined within the HD as "the sum of the influences acting on the species concerned that may affect the long-term distribution and abundance of its populations in the European territory of the Member State to which the Treaty applies". This is considered favourable if the species is maintaining itself as a viable component of its natural habitats and if its abundance and distributional range are maintained and not reduced, and if there is a sufficiently large habitat to maintain its populations on a long-term basis. The parameters used to assess the conservation status of species are population size, natural range, habitat (extent and condition) and future prospects. The evaluation of conservation status is done by assessing separately each of the parameters with the aid of an evaluation matrix, and then combining these assessments to reach an overall assessment (DG Environment, 2017).

All cetaceans and sea turtle species are considered strictly protected under Annex IV of the HD, and 4 of these species are listed in Annex II, which includes species that require the designation of Sites of Community Importance (SCI) and that can justify their designation as Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), and thus part of the Natura 2000 network, as they are key sites that are used regularly by the species for life and reproduction.

Since time series data are necessary to detect changes in FCS, surveillance of the conservation status of the species of Annex II and IV is required under Article 11, which requires to determine the status and trend of the species across their range, and evaluate the impact of the conservation measures undertaken.



A report on the implementation of these measures and on the results of the surveillance is drawn by member states every 6 years (Article 17).

#### The Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD)

The goal of the MSFD is to achieve or maintain a Good Environmental Status (GES) of the EU's marine waters, and follows an adaptive management approach so that it must be updated and reviewed every six years after implementation (not corresponding to the HD reporting period). This directive sets out 11 qualitative descriptors and a number of associated criteria, parameters and indicators for determining GES. Member States may choose which parameters and indicators to apply and set targets according to the background conditions relevant to each area.

The MSFD requires the adoption of specific and standardised methods for monitoring and assessing the achievement of GES, to ensure consistency and comparability among the assessments done by Member States, as well as the establishment of coherent and representative networks of MPAs, compatible with existing EU instruments (e.g., Natura 2000, OSPAR) and coordinated between countries. Descriptor 1 (D1, i.e., biological diversity is maintained), which requires the assessment of the abundance, range and habitat of species, that should be in line with predominant physiographic, geographical and climatological conditions (Article 11, Annex III), is particularly linked to the assessment processes under the HD. Cetaceans and marine turtles have been identified as functional groups of D1 and used for the assessment of GES in Italy, France, Spain, and also within other descriptors (D4, D8, D10, D11, Spitz et al, 2017; Authier et al, 2018).

#### The Maritime Spatial Planning Directive (MSPD)

The MSPD establishes a comprehensive framework to manage human activities, their multiple uses and interests in the maritime environment, and to minimise environmental impacts while reducing conflicts among users and supporting decision-makers. It *"works across borders and sectors to ensure human activities at sea take place in an efficient, safe and sustainable way"*. Its target is to define the maritime spatial plans by 2021, with a minimum review period of 10 years, in the marine waters of each Member State (e.g., internal waters, territorial waters, EEZ). Monitoring strategies should be set for each basin to report at relevant intervals (e.g., 6 years). The MSP can help address several of the resolutions already set by regional agreements, such as to achieve a representative network of Marine Protected Areas (MPAs).

 Table 1. Summary of the main characteristics of the international environmental regulative framework

 related to large marine vertebrates. Acronyms are explained in the main text.

Objective	Methods/tools used for the assessment	Spatio- temporal scope of the	Conservation initiatives and instruments	Target Species



			assessment	implemented				
International	International Organisations							
IUCN	Assessment of the conservation status of species	Specialist groups Red List Assessments	2x2 km; 10 years / 3 generations	KBAs, IMMAs	Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds			
ICES	Sharing of the scientific understanding of marine ecosystems and advice for management and sustainability goals	Working groups: on Joint Cetacean Data Programme- WGJCDP, Bycatch of Protected Species-WGBYC, Marine Mammal Ecology-WGMME. Framework: request formulation, knowledge synthesis, peer review and advice production	Statistical rectangles (30' latitude x 1° longitude)		Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds			
IWC	Global body responsible for management of whaling and conservation of whales	Conservation Management Plans; Revised Management Procedure		Sanctuaries, CCH, mitigation measures	Cetaceans ("stocks")			
International	Conventions							
CITES	Regulation of wildlife trade	Licensing system Animal committee, standing committee, and Conference of the Parties	Every 2/3 years	-	Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds			
BCCEW	Conservation of wild flora and fauna and their natural habitats	Assessment	2 years	ASCI	Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds			



CMS	Protection of endangered migratory species across their full range	Monitoring activities	Migratory range Seasonal for migration	Regional agreements (ACCOBAMS, ASCOBANS)	Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds
CBD	Conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity	National reports Biodiversity indicators UN-Oceans Task Force	Every 3 years	EBSAs	Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds
UNCLOS	Establishment of rules that govern all uses of the oceans and their resources	Reports of the Secretary General UN-Oceans Task Force	Annually	ABNJ, EEZ Archipelagic States, Continental Shelf, High Sea, Islands, Enclosed or semi-enclosed seas	Cetaceans
Regional Sea	Conventions				
OSPAR	Protection of the maritime area against the adverse effects of human activities, to safeguard health and to conserve marine ecosystems	Quality Status Report, Joint Assessment and Monitoring Programme	Regional sea 6 years	-	Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds
HELCOM	Protection of the Baltic Sea from all sources of pollution, and of biological diversity and promotion of the sustainable use of marine resources.	Holistic Assessments (HOLAS)	Regional sea 6 years		Cetaceans, seabirds
BSC	Prevention, reduction and control of pollution of the marine environment of the Black Sea, production of recommendations on measures to this effect, promotion of scientific and technical research	Black Sea Integrated Monitoring and Assessment Programme (BSIMAP)	Regional sea 5 years		Cetaceans, seabirds



UNEP/MAP	Protection of the marine environment and sustainable development of the coastal areas	Ecological Objectives, common indicators Integrated Monitoring and Assessment Programme	Regional sea 10x10 km (up to 50x50 km) 3-6 years	SPAMI (e.g., Pelagos Sanctuary)	Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds
HD	Achievement and maintenance of a "favourable" conservation status of the species	Parameters/indicators, Surveillance	National waters 10x10 km (up to 50x50 km) 6 years (12-24 years trends)	SCI – SAC – Natura 2000	Cetaceans, sea turtles, seabirds
MSFD	Achievement and maintenance of the Good Environmental Status of EU marine waters	Descriptors/criteria/pa rameters/elements; Monitoring	Marine Reporting Units (MRUs) 6 years	EEA marine assessment areas buffer zones-	Cetaceans, sea turtles
MSPD	Management of human activities and uses in the maritime environment	Monitoring	National waters 6 years	MPAs	Cetaceans, sea turtles



## 3 Policy requirements

The assessment of populations of pelagic marine species is extremely difficult and expensive, and to this aim, representative monitoring programmes should be established; the **spatial and temporal resolution** of the reporting required by the various policies differ according to the specific requirements of each one (Table 1). For example, the HD and the MSPD require the assessment in national waters, while other regulations require the assessment at regional or sub-regional scales (e.g., OSPAR, MSFD), thus showing different reporting resolutions (Figure 1, Girard et al, 2022). Despite this variability, consistency of reporting is recommended by the INSPIRE Directive (2007/2/EC), which requires that spatial data and services provided by different European sources are interoperable, to ensure that they are compatible and can be combined in a consistent manner across the EU. Concerning temporal scales, the minimum period recommended by the IUCN to assess population variations is 10 years (IUCN, 2019), but many regulations require large scale assessments at 6-years intervals; however, even cycles of the same duration are not always aligned (e.g., OSPAR, MSFD, HD), and shorter intervals can also be useful to depict seasonal variability (BCCEW, UNEP/MAP, 2017).



**Figure 1.** Timeline of reporting cycles and assessments under different Directives and Conventions operating in European waters (adapted from Girard et al, 2022).

Such a wide legislative framework, even if differing in the specific objectives and measures, often presents common assessment elements and makes use of similar baseline information (Teixeira et al, 2016). In fact, scopes and monitoring approaches defined under one legislative process can be supportive for others. For example, the objective of the MSFD is the achievement of the GES, which is a more detailed assessment of the FCS concept of the HD (Arcangeli et al, 2022), and



consistency in methods and procedures to be applied between the two policies is explicitly referred for, so that Member States can report using the same formats and timescales (Palialexis et al, 2019). EU Directives have developed a number of criteria for the evaluation of the conservation status of the species and for the monitoring of its variations that also refer to widely used indicators and previous conventions/agreements (Teixeira et al, 2016; Girard et al, 2022). The most important and common parameters relevant to large marine vertebrates are described and compared in the next section.

## 3.1 Main attributes of the species: parameters/criteria and indicators

The approach for the assessment of species status among the EU environmental policies is similar, and considers various attributes of the species (parameters/criteria): in general, these are quite generic in the older policies, and become more detailed and with different levels of prioritization (primary-secondary) in the most recent ones. Indicators are used to measure the parameters/criteria, which are generally assessed separately and then aggregated at single species/species group level. Direct correspondences are identified among the attributes measured to assess the species status under different policies (see Teixeira et al, 2016; Girard et al, 2022); those that can be addressed for large marine vertebrates are summarised in Table 2 and compared in the following paragraphs.

**Table 2.** Biodiversity-related assessment within the main European environmental regulative framework: comparison of parameters/criteria relevant to the assessment of population, range and habitat of large marine vertebrates within the most relevant EU conventions and directives.

Parameters/ Criteria	IUCN	CMS	OSPAR CEMP Theme BB2	IMAP Ecological Objective 1	HD	MSFD D1
"Population"	Population size	Population distribution and abundance	M4b Population abundance	Common Indicator 4 Population abundance	Population Size, Population Trends and Favourable	C2 Population abundance
	Population dynamic and viability	Population conditions (demography)	Common Indicator 5 Population demographic characteristics	Reference Population	C3 Population demographic characteristics	



"Range"	Area and Extent of Occupancy	Species range, population distribution	M4b Geographical range and distribution	Common Indicator 3 Species distributional range	Surface of the Range, Trend in Surface of the Range, Favourable Reference Range	C4 Population distributional range and pattern
"Habitat"	Suitable habitat in the evaluation of the range and of its risk exposure	_	_	_	Area and quality of occupied habitat; available area of unoccupied habitat of suitable quality	C5 Habitat for the species

#### 3.1.1 Population

Population refers to the total population in the biogeographical or marine region of interest; dynamic data indicate that the population is maintaining itself on a long-term basis as a viable component of its natural habitat (**Favourable Reference Population, FRP**). Information on historic distribution/population and/or the best 'expert judgement' may be employed to define FRP in the absence of other data. The estimate of population size has to be related to management units (e.g., IWC), particularly for wide ranging marine species; many assessments use statistically robust estimates obtained from regional Agreements or Conventions (ACCOBAMS, ASCOBANS, OSPAR), or from cooperative surveys between Member States that share the same population (i.e., NASS, Vikingsson et al, 2009; SCANS, Hammond et al, 2017; ACCOBAMS, Panigada et al, 2021).

**Population Size** is 'favourable' when it is not lower than its FRP. For mobile species such as marine mammals and sea turtles, the reporting unit for HD is either the number of individuals, considered as a range or best available single value, or the number of occupied 1x1 km grids (see Range) in density maps, with a similar approach to other regulations (DG Environment, 2017). For sea turtles, the estimate of population abundance is based on nesting females, but it needs to include observations at sea (Girard et al, 2022) and can be completed by modelling and/or extrapolation (Palialexis et al, 2019; Zampollo et al, 2022).

Detailed demographic characteristics are also required by OSPAR, IMAP, MSFD, but mainly for exploited species. For **Population trends**, the IUCN set a threshold in the observation of a 30% decline over 3 generations for a species (more than 5% in 10 years, IUCN 2019); the 3 generations period is however species-specific as the duration of a generation differs across species (44-72 years for odontocetes, 96 for sperm whale and 78 years for fin whales, IMAP EcAP). For sea turtles, data from a minimum of 10 years are optimal to detect trends in population abundance, but given the difficulty in obtaining such long-term datasets from at-sea observations, trends in abundance should be characterised over the 6-year reporting



period (Girard et al, 2022) and estimates should be corrected using known behavioural data collected from tracking studies (Katsanevakis et al, 2012).

#### 3.1.2 Distributional Range

The HD defines the Distributional Range as "the outer limits of the overall area in which a species is found at present and it can be considered as an envelope within which areas actually occupied occur" (DG Environment, 2017). It is a dynamic parameter that allows the assessment of the extent of the area within which any significant ecological variation of the species is included for a given biogeographical region and which is sufficiently large to allow the long-term survival of the species (Favourable Reference Range, FRR). The proportion of surveyed area where a species is detected defines the species occupancy (presence/absence). To estimate the quantity of occupied habitat for taxa with markedly different body sizes, mobility and home ranges, different spatial scales of measurement are required. For the IUCN, the Area and Extent of Occupancy have to be mapped in a 2x2 km grid, for a fine scale evaluation of the spatial extent of risk that a species can deal with (IUCN, 2019). For HD and IMAP reporting, the spatial distribution of a species is required in the form of a presence/absence map in a 10x10 km grid, but for highly mobile or migratory species that can occupy large territories during their life cycle (sensu CMS), reporting should be presented at biogeographical level (e.g., 50x50 km grids, UNEP/MAP, 2017). It should be noted that the width of a degree of longitude changes with the latitude, causing variation in the area of the grid cells, which calls for resolution grids measured in degrees when analysing data with large latitudinal extension (Wall, 2013; Rogan et al, 2017; Valente et al, 2019).

The **Surface of the range** is the total surface area (in km<sup>2</sup>) of the current range within the biogeographical or marine region concerned, obtained through the spatial generalisation of the species distribution. This parameter should be calculated on the actual/predicted distribution using a standardised process to ensure repeatability of the range calculation in different reporting rounds, which involves: 1) creating an envelope around the distribution grids, using the procedure of "gap closure"; 2) excluding unsuitable areas (Arcangeli et al, 2022). For marine mammals and reptiles, the recommended maximum gap distance to calculate the surface of the range is 90 km. The distributional range is derived from the large-scale surveys, modelling, extrapolation of expert opinion (DG Environment, 2017), which allow predictions on the probability of occurrence in areas where no data are available, and represents a low-cost alternative for monitoring abundance (Brereton et al, 2000; MacLeod et al, 2009; Katsanevakis et al, 2012; Palialexis et al, 2019).

**Trends in Surface of the Range** can be measured over a short-term (12 years) or long-term period (24 years) (DG Environment, 2017). Information on the direction of any change over the reported period should be provided as: stable, increasing, decreasing, uncertain, or unknown. According to the IUCN criteria, the threshold value is set as a 30% decline of the range over three generations for a species, which is however a variable temporal scale depending on the species considered (IUCN, 2019). For OSPAR, the threshold is set to a 10% of change in distribution detected over the 6-years assessment period (OSPAR,



2019). For sea turtles, as variations in distribution are particularly difficult to interpret given the many concurrent influencing factors, the MSFD suggests that GES is achieved when the distributional range remains stable between reporting cycles (Girard et al, 2022).

#### 3.1.3 Habitat for the Species

The habitat of a species is an environment defined by specific abiotic or biotic factors, in which the species lives at any stage of its biological cycle (DG Environment, 2017). A special emphasis should be given to key habitats, which are those used during specific periods of the life cycle of species, such as for reproduction. Conservation measures should assure sufficiently large habitats to maintain populations on a long-term basis, thus also considering the different life stages of a species (e.g., Girard et al, 2022; Zampollo et al, 2022). The evaluation of this parameter is only included in the HD and MSFD, while the IUCN criteria recognise the suitable habitat in the evaluation of the range and of its risk exposure (IUCN, 2019). Three key elements are used to assess the habitat of a species: area, quality and spatial organisation, where quality is a continuous variable (from high to low) that refers to the resources available for the survival, reproduction and persistence of a population. The following indicators are required by the HD: area and quality of occupied habitat, to be evaluated as sufficient for the long-term survival of the species (Yes/No/Unknown); available area of the unoccupied habitat of suitable quality for the long-term survival of the species. For some highly mobile species, the actual habitat will often be equal to the range, so it might be difficult to precisely identify the area used, and the assessment should mainly focus on the 'habitat quality' (Palialexis et al, 2019). For marine species, since the Habitat quality is often difficult to assess, the information on Habitat is generally used to evaluate the Range of the species. Accordingly, the IUCN gives indications to assess Habitat for these species using predictions based on modelling and/or other extrapolation methodologies from a limited amount of data from detailed surveys.

#### 3.1.4 Future Prospects/Trends

"Future prospects" is an indicator that is only explicitly present in the HD and should be interpreted as a measure of a directional change and future condition of one of the above parameters over time, in the next 12/24 years (2/4 reporting cycles) for detecting short-term and long-term trends, respectively (DG Environment, 2017). The IUCN indicates 10 years as a suitable interval for the short-term trend assessment (IUCN, 2019; Palialexis et al, 2019; Girard et al, 2022). Surveillance is required in important marine areas (Natura 2000, IMMAs, EBSAs, ABNJ) and it is essential to provide long-term datasets within conservation legislation, to detect patterns of species presence and distribution and evaluate the efficiency of protection measures (Pullin et al, 2009; Patricio et al, 2016; IUCN, 2019; Palialexis et al, 2019). Within the HD, Future prospects can be 'good', 'poor', 'bad' or 'unknown' and should derive from the balance between species needs, response to the changing environment, and effects of conservation measures. In



the context of species-habitat studies, the rate of change is often more relevant than the absolute value of the investigated parameters (Katsanevakis et al, 2012).



## 4 Data analyses to comply with the EU requirements: examples from the MTT network

Systematic visual observations from non-dedicated platforms are among the preferred methods to monitor marine species and contribute to determining populations abundance and range, as well as habitat preference; in addition, monitoring trends over time is also possible given the repeatability of the surveys (Berrow et al, 2012).

To prepare this chapter and provide a detailed overview of the analyses performed, the scientific production derived by the monitoring networks using ferries and cargos (i.e., ORCA, FLT MED NET, CETUS) was considered (see Campana and Vighi, 2020); since standardised and systematic protocols are used for data collection within the networks, data provided in the different publications were considered uniform. More recent literature was additionally searched in Google Scholar and Pubmed, using the keywords "transect monitoring", "large vessels/ships of opportunity", "cetacean/sea turtle/large vertebrates", and the analytical process carried out in publications that specifically addressed the policy framework was assessed. As a result, 105 documents were reviewed, of which 79 international and national research papers, 25 technical reports and one Master thesis. The majority came from the FLT MED NET and ORCA networks, but literature from other research groups in the Mediterranean Sea, Atlantic or Pacific Oceans was also included. Most of the documents dealt with a great variety of cetaceans species (93%), while 15% with sea turtles, mainly Caretta caretta. Some documents considered both taxa. From each document, information about the target species, the policy addressed, the preliminary analyses, the spatio-temporal resolution, the methodologies applied with respect to the Population/Range/Habitat parameters, and the presence of analyses on threats was extracted.

## 4.1 Preliminary analyses

Data exploration is performed prior to any deeper investigation to evaluate the representativeness and robustness of the datasets, to detect possible biases and ensure data homogeneity. Data exploration can include all or some of the following steps:

The dataset can be **stratified** by year and/or season: seasons are usually divided into winter (January to March), spring (April to June), summer (July to September) and autumn (October to December), but in some cases only two opposite seasons can be analysed (autumn-winter/spring-summer, Campana et



al, 2022; Pace et al, 2022). This can be done at the beginning of the analyses, to verify the number of records available, or further on during the process. Data can be also split geographically according to the marine region (e.g., Arcangeli et al, 2017, 2023a; Tepsich et al, 2020), habitat type/bathymetry (e.g., Lopez et al, 2004; Brereton 2005; Kiszka et al, 2007; Gnone et al, 2023).

Only **on-effort** tracks are considered, with sea state <4 Beaufort, for equal probability of observing cetaceans (see details on protocols, Campana and Vighi, 2020); in cases of low detectable species, such as *Z. cavirostris, P. phocoena*, sea turtles, only lower sea state (<3) can be used for analyses (Eguchi et al 2007; Bouveroux et al, 2020; Robbins et al, 2022).

The total **length** of each on-effort transect is computed. For each monitored route in a specific area, each trip from port to port, considered as an independent transect, is the **statistical unit**. For outbound/return trips performed within the same day, spatial and temporal **auto-correlation** should be assessed: Spearman's rank correlation test can be applied to abundance estimates computed from transects of the same area and sampled within the same day or consecutive days (Arcangeli et al, 2013, 2014, 2016; Morgado et al, 2017); based on results, one transect is randomly selected among the two available on the same daily route (Tepsich et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2021).

In order to avoid biases due to poorly surveyed areas/seasons, a **minimum sampling effort** criterion has to be set, by investigating the relationship between encounter rate and survey effort (Brereton et al, 2003; Correia et al, 2020). Preliminary exploratory data analysis can be done by plotting effort with encounter rate and Z score values, finding the limit of effort when the variance of the encounter rate does not appreciably change (Arcangeli et al, 2016, 2017). Based on previous results, transects are discarded from the analysis when shorter than 10 km (Arcangeli et al, 2021; Atzori et al, 2021). When dealing with groups of transects, the maximum length recorded for a single transect in a group is used to set a threshold value for assessing transect representativeness: Tepsich et al (2020) selected only the transects of at least the 30% of the maximum length within transect groups.

When analysing the effort within grid cells, the minimum effort to consider a cell surveyed can be set by using a quantile analysis (e.g., 1<sup>st</sup> quantile, Robbins et al, 2022), while some authors defined insufficient effort when the 10%-20% of the cell size is not covered (Azzolin et al, 2020; Grossi et al, 2021; Ham et al, 2021); in other cases, the minimum effort is chosen consistently with the cell size (1 km in 1x1 km grid, Correia et al, 2015; Bouveroux et al, 2020; 10 km in 5x5 km grid, Arcangeli et al, 2017, 2019; Gregorietti et al, 2021; diagonal of the cell, Gnone et al, 2023) or with the objective of the study (50 km in 1x1 km grid, Arcangeli et al, 2016; 5 km in 5x5 km grid, Campana et al, 2022; 100 m in 10x10 km, Arcangeli et al, 2022).



Similarly, the **minimum number of sightings** can be defined, according to the analyses to be performed. Some authors chose 10-15 (Campana et al, 2015, 2017; Pace et al, 2019), other 30-40 (Kiszka et al, 2007; Correia et al, 2020, 2021) as the minimum number of sightings that would allow for statistical comparisons and significance; when working on grids, other authors chose to retain a cell if the sightingbuffer zone covers ≥20% of its area (Grossi et al, 2021; Ham et al, 2021).

To inspect the community **composition**, sightings frequencies are computed, representing the proportion of each species sightings of the total species records in the studied area (e.g., MacLeod et al, 2005; Wall et al, 2006, 2013; Leeney et al, 2012; Aissi et al, 2015; Pace et al, 2019; Valente et al, 2019; Correia et al, 2020; Sá et al, 2021; Gnone et al, 2023; Scuderi et al, 2024).

**Species richness** is another value that can be calculated within data exploration. It indicates the total number of species detected, which can be compared among areas/periods: it can be expressed as the total number of species per sampling unit (Brereton et al, 1999; Wall et al, 2006; Leeney et al, 2012; Vella, 2013; Correia et al, 2020; David et al, 2020) or by commonly used indices, such as the Shannon-Weaver or Simpson's diversity index (Brereton et al, 2003; Aissi et al, 2015; Arcangeli et al, 2017; Matear et al, 2019; Campana et al, 2022; Gnone et al, 2023). A specific Biodiversity index was created by McClellan et al (2014) by summing umbrella groups of megafauna. The number of sightings and number of species observed in relation to the sampling effort can be also modelled (e.g., through Generalised Additive Models (GAMs), Correia et al, 2020; or Generalised Linear Models (GLMs), Gnone et al, 2023).

To evaluate the effect of **observation conditions** on species detection, <u>platform</u> characteristics have been tested with a GLM including cruise speed and deck height (Arcangeli et al, 2014b; Cominelli et al, 2016), which showed the influence of the height of the ship over the sighting distance of cetaceans. Lopez et al (2004) investigated the effects of boat type and speed on sightings rates through different statistical approaches, while Monestiez et al (2006) assessed the correlation between the number of fin whale sightings and the number of observers aboard or the type of observation platform used (ferry, sailing, fishing). Similarly, Northridge et al (1995) adopted a modelling approach to generate estimates of relative detectability for cetacean species in different <u>sea states</u>, while Reid et al (2003) modelled sightings rates as a function of several covariates including sea state using GAMs, and estimated appropriate correction factors for each sea state category. Given these effects, some authors divide sighting and effort data into segments with uniform observation conditions, according to the study area and target species (Forney, 2000 (2 km); Williams et al, 2006 (2 NM); JNCC, 2015 (10 km); Cominelli et al, 2016; ORCA, 2019, 2021, 2023 (7 km); Robbins et al, 2020 (5 km)).



## 4.2 Analyses for "Population"

The simultaneous collection of effort and sightings data enable the calculation of standardised estimates for each species at various spatial/temporal scales, providing a tool for long-term monitoring. Information on population attributes can be provided by the indicator **abundance**, through the use of an index or distance sampling method. This indicator can be analysed by year/season/area, to test spatio-temporal differences prior to pooling data. Composite indices (i.e., aggregation of indicators) can be developed as a way of describing the change in species populations at country level (Brereton et al, 2003).

#### 4.2.1 Abundance indices

The **Encounter Rate (ER)** and/or the **Sightings per Unit of Effort (SPUE)** are used as indices of abundance for the taxa/single species, and represent the number of presences recorded during the observation effort. According to the scale of the study area and the species investigated, they can be expressed as:

- *N sightings/ km effort* (\*10, \*100) (MacLeod et al, 2005; Monestiez et al, 2006; Kiszka et al, 2007; Brereton et al, 2012; Aissi et al, 2015; Arcangeli et al, 2014b, 2016, 2017, 2021; Morgado et al, 2017; Azzolin et al, 2020; David et al, 2020; Tepsich et al, 2020; Robbins et al, 2020, 2022; Gregorietti et al, 2021; Ham et al, 2021; Campana et al, 2022; Falk Lindberg and Lindqvist, 2022; Zampollo et al, 2022; Gnone et al, 2023; Scuderi et al, 2024);

- N sightings/ NM effort (\*10, \*100) (Correia et al, 2015, 2019);

- *N animals/ km effort (\*100, \*1000)* (Northridge et al, 1995; Brereton et al, 1999; Lopez et al, 2004; Brereton et al, 2005, 2009; Eguchi et al, 2007; Cominelli et al, 2016; Di Méglio et al, 2018; Arcangeli et al, 2019; Bouveroux et al, 2020);

- N animals/ NM effort (\*100, \*1000) (Johannessen et al, 2022);

- *N sightings/ hour effort* (Arcangeli et al, 2013; Santoro et al, 2015); or days (Herrera et al, 2021) when the effort was not continuous;

- *N animals/ hour effort* (Reid et al, 2003; Southall et al, 2005; Wall et al, 2006; Wall, 2013), more appropriate than length when including observations from different sources, short survey lines, or stationary points (e.g., fishing effort, Braun-McNeill and Epperly, 2002; Girard et al, 2022).

Specific **Occurrence Indices** (proportions of the total ER) can be calculated by dividing the ER relative to each sub-region by the overall ER calculated for the entire study area at the same temporal scale (yearly/monthly, Morgado et al, 2017).

The effects of <u>weather conditions</u> (sea state, cloud cover, wind speed and direction) on the abundance index have been considered by applying GLMs (Cominelli et al, 2016). In order to get sampling units representing a continuous period of effort under the same meteorological conditions, a single transect can be divided into several sampling units (Cominelli et al, 2016).



Sighting rates have also been modelled as a function of several covariates including sea state using GAMs (Reid et al, 2003). Smoothed functions relating sea state to sightings rate were generated for eight cetacean species or species groups and used to adjust survey effort within each sea state category by an appropriate correction factor (Reid et al, 2003). Survey effort in higher sea states was down-weighted compared with effort in low sea states.

#### 4.2.2 Abundance – Distance sampling

**Species density (D)** is computed as the number of animals/sightings over the surveyed area (e.g., grid cells, Lopez et al, 2004). The observation protocols from large vessels assure that sightings are recorded by applying a line transect method, in which the angle and radial distance are measured to transform the linear transect into a strip transect and to compute the perpendicular distances required to apply the **Distance Sampling** (DS) analysis (Buckland et al, 2001). To take into account possible biases for imperfect detection, the <u>Effective Strip Width</u> (ESW) is calculated, which ensures to respect the assumption of a 100% probability of sightings within the strip and allows setting the total width of each transect for each species, and excluding all sightings above the maximum detectability distance (Williams et al, 2006; Cominelli et al, 2016; Morgado et al, 2017; Robbins et al, 2020; Tepsich et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2021; Sá et al, 2021; David et al, 2022; Johannessen et al, 2022). In some cases, a specific buffer is applied to each monitored track and to each sighting to consider the effective distance of species detectability (Ham et al, 2021; Grossi et al, 2021).

When considering <u>multiple observation platforms</u>, ESW is computed separately for each type of platform, classified according the height of the main deck or speed (see Arcangeli et al, 2014a; Cominelli et al, 2016; Cañadas et al, 2018; Leonard & Øien, 2020; Robbins et al, 2020; Tepsich et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2021).

<u>Detection functions</u> can be modelled (mostly with GAMs) to explore the relationship between animal presence and/or abundance and environmental covariates, considering the entire survey effort or portions of the transects (e.g., Williams et al, 2006 (2 NM); JNCC, 2015 (10 km); Cañadas et al, 2018; Robbins et al, 2020 (5 km)); and results can be included in a model-based Density Surface Modelling (Brereton et al, 2009; Robbins et al, 2020; Johannessen et al, 2022). Different detection functions can be tested, with 0 or 1 adjustment, according to the considered species: Half normal (Williams et al, 2006; Eguchi et al, 2007; Arcangeli et al, 2022), Uniform and Hazard rate (Tepsich et al, 2020; Robbins et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2021; Johannessen et al, 2022). The choice of the optimal detection function is based on the AIC value, QQ plot and Cross Validation. After fitting the detection function with the number of individuals and perpendicular distance from the transect, the density of species along the transect is calculated, as:

*D* = *N*/2*E*SW *L*\*100, where:

N is the number of individuals observed;

2ESW is the total width of the transect;

L is the length of the transect (km).



Density can be calculated for the total dataset and stratified for years/seasons/areas for comparison (Eguchi et al, 2007; Tepsich et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2021, 2022; Sá et al, 2021); a randomization method can be applied to compute uncertainty around estimated densities and determine a confidence interval (Eguchi et al, 2007). Due to data specificity on the loggerhead turtle *Caretta caretta*, a two-step method was used to perform model selection between distance sampling models in the face of overdispersion (Howe et al, 2019), using the following equation:

 $QAIC = -2 (log L(\vartheta) / \hat{c}) + 2K$ , where:

QAIC is the adjusted version of AIC,

log L is the log likelihood value,

"theta" is a vector of maximum likelihood parameter estimates,

K is the number of parameters in the current model.

When covariates on platform type and weather conditions were added to the models, the best fitting function to assess effective strip width (ESW) resulted:

ESW = Pa \* w (with Pa = probability of detection of a turtle, w = strip width), including also the mean group size (s) (see Arcangeli et al, 2022; David et al, 2023).

Considering the effect of <u>weather</u> conditions (sea state, cloud cover, wind speed and direction) on species detectability, and thus on the density estimate, A Multiple Covariate Distance Sampling can be applied to the density index (MCDS, Cotté et al, 2009; Cominelli et al, 2016). In order to get sampling units that represent a continuous period of effort under the same meteorological conditions, a single transect can be divided into several portions (Cominelli et al, 2016).

Another method to estimate density is based on modelling the distances between detections, also called <u>waiting</u> <u>distances</u>, because in areas of high density the waiting distance between sightings is short (Cotté et al, 2009). The density surface is then obtained by calculating the inverse of the waiting area, defined as twice the effective strip half-width, times the waiting distance (Cotté et al, 2009).

#### 4.2.3 Trends

Changes in population abundance can be evaluated by considering the variations of both indicators, ER and density, between two 6-years periods (Vella and Vella, 2015; Leonard & Øien, 2020; Tepsich et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2021, 2022). Despite the limitations of providing information on large areas, the index of abundance, as defined by the HD, is a good indicator for identifying trends (Berrow et al, 2012). However, within this report we observed that only a few studies consider the specific interval required by the policies, while most of them provide general temporal comparisons about species abundance/density, even if using a long-term data series (>10 years, Northridge et al, 1995; Eguchi et al, 2007; Brereton et al, 2009; Lambert et al, 2011; Di Méglio et al, 2018; Valente et al, 2019; Robbins et al, 2020; Grossi et al, 2021; Herrera et al, 2021; Poot and Soldaat, 2022; Gnone et al, 2023). In other cases, short periods have been compared over 20 years, providing insights into general population changes (Arcangeli et al, 2013, 2016).



Short/long-term population trends have been also assessed through linear modelling (Poisson regression) on relative abundance by Brereton et al (2003), who also suggested the use of **Power analysis** to assess the sensitivity of monitoring data and to identify improvements in the survey design required to detect significant levels of change within reporting cycles (Brereton et al, 2009).

Tepsich et al (2020) applied GAMs on species density to inspect the effect of the year in describing trends; and in the analysis of time series a **moving average** can be used on the computed yearly densities (Arcangeli et al, 2022). This method provides a smoothed analysis of the observed data, less prone to 'random' or punctual variations (e.g., anomalous years). Preliminary tests are run in order to define the direction and width of the moving average, that can be computed as centred, left aligned, or right aligned. For the analysis of trends over the 6 years-period (HD and MFSD), a moving average left centred is applied, and then two different widths for the moving window are tested (2- and 3-years window). As a consequence, yearly densities are transformed into 'moved' Densities, as for each year the observed density is averaged with the density observed during the previous years. Trends are then computed by considering the two reference periods separately, and the statistical significance of the regression line is used as a proxy for trend significance (Arcangeli et al, 2022).

#### Comments

Despite large scale programmes performed over decades provide robust population estimates (Víkingsson et al, 2009; Hammond et al, 2017), surveys carried out with higher frequency (yearly-monthly) allow excluding uncertainties due to year-to-year variations and better characterising spatial distribution (Kiszka et al, 2007; Arcangeli et al, 2016; Azzolin et al, 2020; Tepsich et al, 2020), detecting low density or less detectable species (Williams et al, 2002; Bouveroux et al, 2020; Robbins et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2023a). The index of abundance doesn't provide an absolute estimate of population size (Palialexis et al, 2019) but can be used to assess trends, evaluate differences between consecutive periods, and, through the development of models, can be converted into an estimated number of individuals for specific marine regions (Arcangeli et al, 2022). The estimated densities derived from these monitoring activities show a decrease in the confidence intervals as the number of surveys included in the analysis increases (Brereton et al, 2009), while Power analysis can be useful to assess the sensitivity of current monitoring and to identify improvements in the survey effort (Brereton et al, 2003; ACCOBAMS, 2022).

Distance sampling applied to data collected from large vessels is effectively used to estimate abundance of animals at sea, especially if used in combination with aerial surveys (Panigada et al, 2021; Girard et al, 2022) and if the availability and the perception bias are taken into account (Cañadas et al, 2018; Katsanevakis et al, 2012).

The moving average method performed better in smoothing peak events within the time series, but could still detect the interannual variability. Specifically, the 3-years moving average method proved to reduce the limitations posed by the analysing of a dataset with insufficient data. The detection of patterns also within each 6-years reference period (i.e., Cominelli et al, 2016; Morgado et al, 2017; Correia et al, 2019, 2020; Gregorietti et al, 2021; Atzori et al, 2021) could support the interpretation of trends between reference periods (Tepsich et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2022).



Finally, indicators can be aggregated to identify changes in species populations at national level (Brereton et al, 2003), as shown by the combined use of density and range indicators to describe species abundance (Arcangeli et al, 2022).

### 4.3 Analyses for "Range"

#### 4.3.1 Observed distributional range

Monitoring surveys ideally should be based on species-specific design criteria that optimise sampling within all habitats relevant to each species throughout its entire range (Forney, 2000). The systematic monitoring over large sea areas, despite not covering the entire range of a species, is however considered excellent in providing information about the distribution of the species and its trends (Berrow et al, 2012). For some species that occupy different habitats throughout the year and their life cycle, distributional range estimations should be seasonal and life stage-specific (Girard et al, 2022; Zampollo et al, 2022).

The easiest way to report the spatial presence of a species population is to map the distribution of sightings, i.e., their **occurrence**, over the studied area (Brereton et al, 2001; Wall et al, 2006; Cotté et al, 2009; Lambert et al, 2011; Arcangeli et al, 2013; Vella et al, 2013; McClellan et al. 2014; Santoro et al, 2015; Cominelli et al, 2016; Leonard and Øien, 2020; Herrera et al, 2021; Sá et al, 2021; Johannessen et al, 2022). Some authors defined a buffer around each sighting to take into account the effective distance of species detectability (Ham et al, 2021; Grossi et al, 2021).

Spatial reporting can be done over a **grid**, whose size can vary according to the study area, the species and the objective of the study:

- *small grid cells* (1x1 km) are applied to investigate habitat preference at fine scale (Lambert et al, 2011; Arcangeli et al, 2013, 2016; Correia et al, 2015; Azzolin et al, 2020; Bouveroux et al, 2020; Grossi et al, 2021; Ham et al, 2021), and are compliant with the recent INSPIRE Directive requirements for spatial information (2007/2/EC);

- 4x4 km grid cells, or similar, are used for coherence with the resolution provided by remote sensing data (McClellan et al, 2014; Lambert et al, 2014; Pennino et al, 2017; Zampollo et al, 2022);

- *HD reporting scale* is used as a portion (5x5 km grid cells)(Williams et al, 2006; Leeney et al, 2012; JNCC, 2015; Morgado et al, 2017; Arcangeli et al, 2017, 2019, 2021; Robbins et al, 2020; Atzori et al, 2021; Gregorietti et al, 2021; Sà et al, 2021; Campana et al, 2022; Scuderi et al, 2024) or entire cells of 10x10 km (Brereton et al, 2012; Arcangeli et al, 2014a; Matear et al, 2019; David et al, 2020, 2022; Arcangeli et al, 2022); a multiple-steps process that takes into account effort and sightings made on different grid cells has been used from 1 km to 5 km grid cells (Ham et al, 2021; Grossi et al, 2021) and from 10 km to 50 km grid cells (Arcangeli et al, 2022);

- *larger grid cells* (14x14 km, 20x20 km, ICES grid cells, 50x50 km, 100x100 km) can be used for biogeographical scale studies and reports (Northridge et al, 1995; Brereton et al, 1999, 2003; Reid et al, 2003; Kiszka et al, 2007; MacLeod et al, 2009; Wall, 2013; Aissi et al, 2015; Correia et al, 2020; ORCA, 2019, 2021, 2023; Gnone et al, 2023) or to reduce the noise due to low number of sightings in some areas resulting in a map with high spatial variability



(Arcangeli et al, 2022; Cañadas et al, 2018; Valente et al, 2019); for example, the reporting of some cetacean species under the HD in UK waters considers a 50 km grid (UK Article 17 Habitats Directive Report 2019, available at: https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/article-17-habitats-directive-report-2019/) but it would be difficult then to include such information in policy reports requiring finer scales (DG Environment, 2017; IUCN, 2019).

**Distribution** is analysed as the number grid cells with sightings within the surveyed cells: the binary presenceabsence of the sighting (i.e., **occupancy**) is computed only for cells covered by effort. A distribution grid is created considering all the cells with presence (MacLeod et al, 2009; Brereton et al, 2009; Arcangeli et al, 2022, 2023a). The occupancy rate is calculated for each species/area/period, as:

Number of occupied cells/Number of cells with effort (MacLeod et al, 2009; Arcangeli et al, 2021).

Occupancy can be used to measure two components of a species status. Individual distribution can be used to verify changes in fine-scale spatial distribution over time (MacLeod et al, 2009; Brereton et al, 2009). Occupancy has been found to relate to species abundance, and it has been used to monitor changes in the conservation status of a number of organisms (Holt et al, 2002). Occupancy models can be fitted with different software, used as a low-cost surrogate of abundance (Katsanevakis et al, 2012).

When considering species groups or different taxa, the distribution of **species richness** can be an important tool to identify biodiversity hotspots, and propose marine conservation measures, such as IMMAs (Brereton et al, 2012; Arcangeli et al, 2014a; IUCN, 2016; Matear et al, 2019; Campana et al, 2022; Gnone et al, 2023).

Sighting counts can be converted to **density** for mapping purposes by dividing the number of sightings by the area of each cell (Southall et al, 2005; Williams et al, 2006). A more detailed description of species occurrence can be provided by reporting the spatial distribution of the standardised values of abundance indices (ER or SPUE) or Density (from distance sampling) over these grid cells, by considering the amount of effort within each cell, and investigating spatio-temporal differences (Northridge et al, 1995; Reid et al, 2003; Lopez et al, 2004; MacLeod et al, 2005; Monestiez et al, 2006; Kiszka et al, 2007; Brereton et al, 2012; Wall, 2013; Aissi et al, 2015; Correia et al, 2015, 2019, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2019; ORCA, 2019, 2021, 2023; Robbins et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2022; Zampollo et al, 2022; Scuderi et al, 2024). The Occurrence Index (Morgado et al, 2017) can also be reported in each cell.

A **minimum effort** can be set in the cells according to the resolution (see preliminary analyses): for example, 1x1 km cells covered with less than 100 m effort (Arcangeli et al, 2022, 2023a), or those with less than the 1<sup>st</sup> quantile value (Robbins et al, 2022), are discarded.

#### 4.3.2 Spatial generalisation of range

A spatial generalisation of the range can be calculated from the distribution maps of presence/absence or abundance of a species. According to the HD guidelines (DG Environment, 2017), the surface range of a population is first calculated by creating an envelope around the presence/absence distribution grids, using the "gap closure" procedure (gap = 90 Km), which creates a **Minimum Convex Polygon** (MCP). Unsuitable areas, such as terrestrial ones, are then excluded from the envelope (Arcangeli et al, 2022). In some cases, the current range of the species can be obtained based on the literature and experts' collective knowledge (e.g., MacLeod,



2009; Reeves et al, 2013) or by extrapolation from a limited amount of data for reporting purposes (e.g., UK Article 17 Habitats Directive Report 2019, available at: https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/article-17-habitats-directive-report-2019/).

Other methods can provide a better definition of the observed distribution than the coarse methods based on the occupancy grid or MCP, but these might be more complex to apply, since adjustments might be required for spatial scale and data resolution (DG Environment, 2017).

A **Kernel Density Estimator** (KDE, Hengl et al, 2009), based on the abundance index calculated for each cell, can be used to spatially identify the extent and core areas within the area covered by the effort (real species distribution, Girard et al, 2022). KDE analyses can be set with varying cell resolution and search radius depending on the areas and species investigated. For example, 95 % isopleths are used to define the extent (km<sup>2</sup>) of occupied area (i.e., Observed Distributional Range, Arcangeli et al, 2022, 2023a; Gnone et al, 2023), while 70-80 % isopleths usually identify core area locations (Arcangeli et al, 2014b, 2016; Pace et al, 2019; Arcangeli et al, 2021; Atzori et al, 2021; Gregorietti et al, 2021). Lower thresholds can be chosen for specific investigation purposes (50 %, Sá et al, 2021).

The **Poisson Kriging** is another approach based on ER cell values. This is a multiple process that includes the exploratory statistical analyses of the data, the modelling of the variograms, the creation of the surface, and possibly the exploration of the surface variance. Kriging can generate prediction surfaces and surfaces that describe the prediction quality of the model. A specific geostatistical kriging was developed by Monestiez et al (2006) to consider the counting variability under the Poisson distribution, better fit the data, and allow the continuous interpolation (even where the effort is null) of values. The Kriging system was applied to interpolate ER, which can be mapped with an associated map of variance to estimate the distribution and surface of the range of the target species (Di Méglio et al, 2018; Arcangeli et al, 2022; David et al, 2023). In a second step, the kriging can be processed for different periods, so that only cells with effort in common across different periods are considered. Kriged maps based on ER can be transformed in **maps of densities** using ESW and group size, which are used as indicators of abundance. Cells above the threshold of 90 percentile of density are considered as "occupied" and are used for range calculation.

To identify the locations of statistically significant **hotspots** and "coldspots" for the species, spatial gridded records are tested to highlight whether data showed random or clustered patterns using the Average Nearest Neighbour and the Morans I index, and data with clustered patterns are investigated by Getis-Ord Gi\* analysis (Getis and Ord 1992; Arcangeli et al, 2017, 2019; Gregorietti et al, 2021). To define hotspots for a species, an <u>aggregation index</u> can be computed as the number of sightings/animals, standardised by the mean and by the standard deviation of that sub-region (Morgado et al, 2017); a cell is classified as a "Hotspot" whenever the computed index is higher than its mean value by two standard deviations. A similar method is based on normalised SPUE values in the cells, which are considered a hotspot if their SPUE value exceeds the yearly mean by 1 standard deviation (Grossi et al, 2021).

The **Ecological potential range**, i.e., the potential area that a species can occupy, can be estimated from the location of sightings through modelling approaches, by considering several predictors that are usually linked to



habitat characteristics and defining the Extent of Suitable Habitat (IUCN, 2019) (Knowlton et al, 2002; Druon et al, 2012; Lambert et al, 2014; Correia et al, 2019, 2020; Valente et al, 2019; Azzolin et al, 2020; Bouveroux et al, 2020; Atzori et al, 2021). For details see Habitat for the Species (section 4.4).

#### 4.3.3 Trends

In species-habitat studies, the rate at which a change occurs is often more relevant than the absolute value of the occupancy state (Katsanevakis et al, 2012). The proportion of change in the observed distributional range and its potential spatial shift have to be investigated between reporting cycles, taking the life stage of the species into account (Girard et al, 2022). As for the Population parameters, only few of the considered studies investigated the specific range variations over the 12-24 years intervals specifically required by the policy framework (Leonard & Øien, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2021, 2023a). Trends in distribution can be assessed by visually comparing maps of sightings frequencies, ER or densities (Leonard & Øien, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2021), and calculating the percentage of changes and the patterns over time (Arcangeli et al, 2023a). Other studies reported these comparisons over 20 years, but considered a three-years dataset for each period (Arcangeli et al, 2013, 2016).

Some studies report the spatio-temporal **persistence** of yearly hotspots (i.e., species abundance) over a long period, by computing an Hotspot Index for each cell, to take the number of times each cell was considered as Hotspot (into account JNCC, 2015; Grossi et al, 2021); the index varies between 0, which indicates persistent absence, and 1, which indicates cells with persistent species presence (Grossi et al, 2021), and can be used to inform the development of protected areas (JNCC, 2015).

Given the relationship between occupancy and abundance, changes in occupancy are to be used to infer changes in abundance (Brereton et al, 2009, 2012) and the direction of range change (e.g., due to climate change, MacLeod, 2009).

Range trend values can be estimated by the assessment of the species <u>occurrence</u> over a defined period, by calculating the percentage difference in the number of cells occupied between two investigated periods within the same geographical unit (MacLeod et al, 2009; Lambert et al, 2014; Arcangeli et al, 2021), as:

[(occurrence period 2 – occurrence period 1) / occurrence period 1] (Arcangeli et al, 2021, 2023a);

or as the difference in the occurrence referred to the area surveyed in each period:

[(occurrence period 2/total grid cells period 2)– (occurrence period 1/total grid cells period 1)]\*100 (OSPAR, 2019; Arcangeli et al, 2022, 2023a).

Shifts of distribution can also be calculated as indicated by OSPAR (Arcangeli et al, 2022):

2(number of same cells occupied during periods 1 and 2) / (occurrence period 1+occurrence period 2).



Shifts of range can concern either the surface or the centre of gravity (centroid) of range areas, and can be assessed as the percentage of overlap between two periods within a common effort area; the percentage of overlapping area compared to the first period:

#### [(Overlapping area/area period 1)\*100];

or as the direction and magnitude of shift in the centroids of the range area (Arcangeli et al, 2023a).

Further investigation can be done by comparing the <u>spatial generalised distribution</u>, based on sighting densities/abundance (see paragraph 4.3.2); visual overlap can provide information in terms of changes in the location of distributional range (Arcangeli et al, 2013, 2014b, 2016; Di Méglio et al, 2018; Arcangeli et al, 2021, 2022), while variations in the surface area is computed as difference in extensions and percentage differences over the two investigated periods:

#### [(area period 2 – area period 1) / area period 1] (Arcangeli et al, 2023a).

Based on the cells with common effort between two reference periods, a mask can be created for kriging results, extended with a buffer of half the size of a cell based on the lowest variance (25 km buffer), to show and compare the surface obtained only within the common sampled area (Arcangeli et al, 2022; David et al, 2023).

#### Comments

Distribution maps are related to the Population parameter, so they are often used and assessed together. A good way to investigate GES is to mix two criteria, for example obtaining maps of densities of observed animals. Some studies tested the "HD range tool" and concluded that it is inappropriate for cetaceans (and probably sea turtles); spatial interpolation is useful to allow inferring the presence of the species at larger scales and provides better insights (e.g., Kernel, Kriging). A reduction of the grid's cell size and "search radius" for the Kernel has still to be tested (Arcangeli et al, 2022). The Kriging method has the advantages to take the spatial heterogeneity of effort into account and allows inferring the spatial structure, the covariance and the variogram, helping the estimate of spatial distribution of densities over less known areas (Arcangeli et al, 2022). This method integrates the densities over the entire domain of interest and obtains estimates of the total abundance and standard deviation (Bellier et al, 2013). This will help integrate some covariables (bathymetry, distance to the coast) in order to calculate a spatial "drift", which will improve the robustness of trends predictions. This method is increasingly recognised and has been improved with the SPDE-INLABRu method, a model that includes the spatial effect (as for kriging) and the effect of covariables, mainly the static ones, such as bathymetry and distance to the coast (David et al, 2023).

Occupancy is also a good indicator for range that can be used to infer changes in abundance (Brereton et al, 2009). As for other methods, its weakness may relate with the effort, since analyses should not be performed at a basin scale, but rather within subareas according to the data. Occupancy and Observed Distributional Range are good indicators to detect trends provided the coverage of sampled range is consistent over time (Brereton et al, 2009; Arcangeli et al, 2023a), as it is the case for the networks involved in the MTT project. Indeed, for assessing trends, the comparison is possible andmeaningful only over common areas between both periods,



which calls for a monitoring strategy that ensures the coverage of the same areas at large scale (e.g., 50x50 km grid; David & De Jesus, 2023). The extent of range could be equal among periods, but shifted in different areas (e.g., as an effect of pressures), so that the contemporary investigation of the trends in extent (surface range) and shifts (range pattern) is recommended (Arcangeli et al, 2022, 2023a). As for the Population parameter, also studies conducted within the 6-years period (Wall, 2013; Arcangeli et al, 2014b; Morgado et al, 2017; Correia et al, 2020; Ham et al, 2021) can be useful to better interpret the trends.

Finally, the assessment of spatial changes in distribution within a study area can be used to examine whether these changes are related to variations in habitat use or in the environmental conditions (MacLeod, 2009; Brereton et al, 2009).

### 4.4 Analyses for "Habitat for the species"

#### 4.4.1 Suitable habitat – ecological potential range

Data of wide-ranging marine species may be limited to just a set of presence values or extrapolated distribution. To analyse the habitat used by the species, which can be variable according to seasons or life stage (Girard et al, 2022), the mean values of the **environmental variables** (topographic and oceanographic) of the monitored tracks/cells with and without sightings can be compared (Knowlton et al, 2002; Brereton et al, 2005; Wall et al, 2006; Kiszka et al, 2007; Vella, 2010; Wall, 2013; Arcangeli et al, 2016; Azzolin et al, 2020), and the relationship between species abundance and habitat features can be investigated(Lopez et al, 2004; Arcangeli et al, 2014b; Vella and Vella, 2015; Herrera et al, 2021). The assessment of the occupied niche can also be carried out using an outlying mean index (OMI) analysis, an ordination technique designed to 'seek combinations of environmental variables that maximize the average species marginality used by a species and the mean habitat conditions of the sampling domain' (Karasiewicz et al, 2017; Zampollo et al, 2022).

Where no data are available, different modelling techniques, chosen according to the specific type of data/sampling strategy/target species, can be applied to predict the probability of occurrence of the species and thus define their **Ecological Potential Range**.

**Species Distribution Models** (SDM, environmental envelopes, or ecological niche models) can be defined as statistical and/or analytical algorithms that predict the actual or potential distribution of a species, based on field observations and auxiliary maps of environmental variables (Hengl et al, 2009). These techniques allow defining the preferred habitat features for the species (area of potential range or Extent of Suitable Habitat, ESH) and providing estimates of uncertainty (standard errors; confidence intervals) that have to be critically reported, analysed and interpreted. Models, in fact, can be useful to provide information on the areas potentially used by the species, and thus also support the definition of the parameter Range, but don't inform about the quality of the occupied habitat, which is required by the HD.

There are static or dynamic features (or "species distribution factors", Correia et al, 2020) that characterise the environment where a species lives. In SDM, the most commonly used **variables** are:



*topographic* factors: longitude, latitude, depth, slope, aspect east, aspect south, distance from nearest coast, a given bathymetry, canyon, sea mountains, ports, seabed sediment or any other topographic feature;

*oceanographic* variables: mean Chlorophyll-a concentration, mean Sea Surface Temperature, currents. Also year/season can be included as dynamic variables. These variables can be selected after testing for multicollinearity problems through correlation analyses and estimates of the variance inflation factor (VIF) (Correia et al, 2015; Arcangeli et al, 2017; Pennino et al, 2017; Correia et al, 2019, 2020, 2021; Gregorietti et al, 2021; Grossi et al, 2021; Campana et al, 2022; Robbins et al, 2022; Arcangeli et al, 2023a). When comparing different areas, the variability of the environmental features can be checked for a better setting and interpretation of the models (for example with PCA, Correia et al, 2020; Zampollo et al, 2022).

The construction of SDMs is based on methods that differ according to the type of data available for the target species.

Models based on "presence/absence records":

The repeated sampling over the same routes allows the collection of presence and 'absence' data, defined after setting a minimum effort threshold (Arcangeli et al, 2013, 2016, 2017); considering the sightings of other species as absence points of the studied species (Lambert et al, 2011; Valente et al, 2019); or considering equidistant "pseudo-absence" points along the surveyed tracks (Forney, 2000; Correia et al, 2021). Models applied to these data include: GLMs (Forney, 2000; Arcangeli et al, 2013; Bouverox et al, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2022, 2023a), GAMs (Forney, 2000; Williams et al, 2006; Cotté et al, 2009; Correia et al, 2015; JNCC, 2015; Arcangeli et al, 2016, 2017; Correia et al, 2019; ORCA, 2019; Valente et al, 2019; Correia et al, 2020, 2021; Azzolin et al, 2020; Ham et al, 2021; Grossi et al, 2021; Robbins et al, 2022; Campana et al, 2022), GAM Negative Binomial, GAM tweedy (Arcangeli et al, *in prep*), Logistic regression, Neural Networks, ordination and classification methods (Bioclimatic Envelope, Lambert et al, 2011, 2014), Bayesian models (Pennino et al, 2017), Density surface modelling (corrected for uncertain detection via distance sampling methods, JNCC, 2015; Robbins et al, 2020; Johannessen et al, 2022).

#### Models based on "<u>occurrence-only records</u>" (or presence-background data):

These methods allow the use of different data sources without accounting for the observation effort, so maximizing the usefulness of scattered biological data, that do not homogeneously cover the entire range, or when the absence of the species may not be reliable (Pace et al, 2019; Arcangeli et al, *in prep*). The methods generate pseudo-absences points ('background points') around the surveyed areas. The most used models of this type are: Maximum Entropy method (McClellan et al, 2014; Pace et al, 2019; Azzolin et al, 2020; Ham et al, 2021; Zampollo et al, 2022; Arcangeli et al, 2023a; Scuderi et al, 2024), Ecological-Niche Factor Analysis, Random Forest (Gregorietti et al, 2021; Arcangeli et al, *in prep*), Genetic Algorithm for Rule-Set Prediction, Multinomial Logit models, Regression-kriging method (Monestiez et al, 2006). In some cases, abundance indices have been used instead of occurrence data, to allow the inclusion of the information on the sighting effort in the modelling, reducing possible sampling biases (Monestiez et al, 2006; Azzolin et al, 2020; Zampollo et al, 2022; David et al, 2023).



The use a **complementary approach** based on two or more types of models allows using the entire dataset and integrating of the results, to provide a robust habitat characterisation and interpretation of habitat preferences (Correia et al, 2021; Ham et al, 2021). The Ensemble Platform for Species Distribution Modelling ("biomod2" package) allows building a wide set of models, comparing them and grouping the best ones into a single combined model (Gregorietti et al, 2021; Arcangeli et al, 2023a). The use of an independent dataset is recommended to validate of the output models, and evaluate the representativeness of predictions outside the surveyed region (Cotté et al, 2009; Lambert et al, 2011; Druon et al, 2012; Arcangeli et al, 2023a); when an independent dataset is not available, the original dataset can be split in two halves, one used for testing and the other for training purposes (Arcangeli et al, 2022). The cross-validation approach is also applied, in which data from one period reciprocally serve to test the predictive power of the other period's best model (Forney, 2000; Arcangeli et al, 2016). For the **selection** of the best performing models, different methods are used according to the modelling approach and type of data used. The most common measures of predictive performance are: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC); continuous Boyce Index (only presence data); percentage of the explained deviance, the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), Cross-Validation, accuracy score, Log Loss.

SDMs produce **maps** with continuous values that indicate the habitat suitability on a scale from low to high (e.g., Pennino et al, 2017). In some cases, a specific prediction area can be defined, where the major effort occurred (Williams et al, 2006; Pace et al, 2019, 2022). To calculate the ESH area, a threshold can be set to distinguish different levels of suitability (e.g., 60 %-100 %, medium-high suitability, Zampollo et al, 2021; Campana et al, 2022), and the results can be visually inspected by experts. Within MaxEnt, the best threshold method is selected (Equal training sensitivity, specificity logistic threshold). The output binary suitable-unsuitable prediction rasters can be converted into polygon layers that include the highest suitable class for each species/period, and where the extent of the ESH in km<sup>2</sup> can be measured (Campana et al, 2022; Arcangeli et al, 2022, 2023a;). This value can be compared between periods/areas or overlapped with existing protected areas (Campana et al, 2022; Scuderi et al, 2024).

To compare the suitable habitat actually occupied by the species (observed distribution ranges vs ecological potential range) to the available habitat in the study area, a quantile analysis (boxplot) can be performed, through a set of equidistant points along the effort tracks (Forney, 2000; Correia et al, 2015, 2019, 2020) or across the study area (Arcangeli et al, 2016; Azzolin et al, 2020), where the environmental variables are extracted; some authors randomly generated sampling points in the different levels of the spatial generalisation of presence (McClellan et al, 2014). Considering only the areas covered by the effort, the extent of suitable habitats is estimated in km<sup>2</sup> and the percentage proportion of the area actually occupied against the area of the modelled suitable habitat is calculated as:

[(area occupied) / (area suitable)]\*100 (Arcangeli et al, 2023a).

4.4.2 Trends



Trends in habitat for the species have been evaluated by comparing suitability models computed for different periods (Arcangeli et al, 2016) or by combining predictions from habitat niche with climatic niche models (Lambert et al, 2011, 2014) or other risk factors (Grossi et al, 2021). Change in the potential range can be evaluated using the percentage of changes in the extension and overlap of the Suitable Habitat between the two periods (Girard et al, 2022; Arcangeli et al, 2023a). If the effort area is not consistent between the two periods, two distinct models, using the same settings and set of variables, should be run for each investigated period. The change in the extent of suitable habitat is calculated as:

[(ESH period 2 – ESH period 1) / ESH period 1] (Arcangeli et al, 2023a).

The extent of area of overlap of the Suitable Habitat between the two periods can be also calculated. Differences in the proportion of the modelled suitable habitat occupied by the species is calculated between periods as:

[(%period 2 - %period 1) / % period 1] (Arcangeli et al, 2023a).

#### Comments

The species distribution modelling identifies the environmental variables that support higher densities of the target species, thereby providing information on physical and biological factors essential to their life and reproduction, thus for their conservation (Druon et al, 2012; Azzolin et al, 2020; JNCC, 2015). Environmental variability can affect species trend analyses, especially when they are sampled on fixed routes that don't include their entire range: this results in apparent fluctuations in local abundance, difficult to separate from true trends (Forney, 2000). Sampling design should be representative of the species range and known key areas (Arcangeli et al, 2023a; Forney, 2000), which is not always true when using non-dedicated platforms; however, it may be possible to model the effects of habitat variability analytically, partitioning changes in apparent abundance into components that can and cannot be explained by environmental changes (Forney, 2000). Data systematically collected from large vessels provide good datasets that can fit different types of models to define the habitat use of the species and its variations (Berrow et al, 2012), and how temporal aspects of habitat preferences affect cetacean abundance and distribution (Brereton et al, 2009). Given the nature of species-environment relationships, in fact, models should be constructed with multi-year data reducing unexplained variability and increasing power to detect trends (Forney, 2000).

Among the tested algorithms that employ presence/absence data, GAM is the most used and it appeared the best (Arcangeli et al, 2022, in prep). Among the methods for presence-only data, MaxEnt has a good power in predicting habitat niches and it can be used to measure the ESH, allowing comparison among periods (Arcangeli et al, 2022, 2023a). To date, many policy reports define "unknown" or "with insufficient data" the trends for the Habitat parameter, meant as the extent of suitable habitat, indicating the need for increasing the application of the described methodologies to the datasets of these monitoring programmes.

A good way to investigate GES for the MSFD Descriptors or HD Parameters is using several indicators for the same parameters; similarly, mixing two criteria, for example by comparing the Observed Distributional Range (Range) versus the Ecological Potential Range (Habitat; Arcangeli et al, 2023a), helps the interpretation of the species conservation status for each parameter (Arcangeli et al, 2022).



## 5 Threats and other collateral data collected within the MTT network

Several human activities, such as coastal urbanisation, tourism, shipping and fisheries, are acting as stressors for the marine environment by favouring biological invasions, producing acoustic or chemical pollution and waste discharge that can directly physically damage habitats and marine species and spoil the regular functionality of natural ecosystems (Halpern et al, 2008). These stressors are also mentioned in the environmental policy framework (e.g., IWC, IUCN, HD), with some specific objectives defined by the most recent directives (Spitz et al, 2017; MSFD, MSPD).

Indeed, the effective management of marine species requires knowledge of the temporal and spatial extent of co-occurrence of specific anthropogenic pressures with the species, in order to identify priority conservation areas and seasons, and mitigate threats in the adequate place and time. Risk assessment studies are generally based on the observed/predicted distributions of target species and threats, but for species that have a complex life cycle and use a variety of habitats, such as marine large vertebrates, dynamic assessments are required (Arcangeli et al, *in press*).

Data derived from systematic monitoring programmes are useful to obtain information about some anthropogenic pressures, such as maritime traffic and pollution by marine litter, contributing in this sense to fulfil some requirements of current EU policies; in the following sections, the different approaches applied to describe and quantify the variable effect of these threats on marine species, using data collected within the networks of the MTT project, are briefly reported.

## 5.1 Maritime traffic

The presence of vessels can produce different effects on marine species, spanning from the short- and long- term alteration of their behaviour and distribution, to acoustic disturbance, injuries or death caused by collisions with large ships or fast motor boats. These effects can be particularly evident in high traffic areas or seasons, according to the species characteristics. To investigate the potential effect of maritime traffic on the species abundance, some studies included vessel traffic in the predictive models for whale distribution (JNCC, 2015; Falk Lindberg & Erika, 2022).

Behavioural responses to vessels presence can be evaluated by dedicated observations (e.g., Falk Lindberg & Erika, 2022) that cannot be easily carried out from large vessels travelling along fixed routes. However, these monitoring programmes can provide information about the distribution and abundance of large vertebrates in areas of intense shipping, such as the Bay of Biscay or the NW



Mediterranean Sea, which are useful to identify potential areas and seasons at high risk. The spatial overlapping of zones of presence of species and traffic has indeed been recognised as one of the most important factors determining risks for the species.

To obtain spatial distribution of shipping density, some studies used data from an automatic identification system (AIS)(Reeves et al, 2013; Ham et al, 2021) or Lloyd's Intelligence Maritime Unit (LMIU)(Di Méglio et al, 2018). Data on maritime traffic composition and intensity are also visually collected on board large vessels with a specific protocol by the FLT MED NET (Campana and Vighi, 2020; Arcangeli et al, 2022), which provides synoptic information with the species that can be used to verify the effect of **vessels presence** on the observation of the species. Traffic intensity is compared in the presence of animals' sightings to random locations as:

#### (N presence- N absence) / N absence

where N is the number of vessels counted in the presence and in the absence of sightings (random locations) along the surveyed transects. Campana et al (2015, 2017) reported that maritime traffic was generally lower in areas of cetacean sightings, which likely indicated a different use of space by animals and shipping; where no differences emerged, this could suggest an actual overlap of the species with shipping, which can still result in potential risk, so that further investigation in these areas can be planned (Campana et al, 2015; Scuderi et al, 2024). This analysis can be stratified per species, seasons, type of vessels, marine regions, in order to highlight specific relationships and significant variations.

Traffic intensity can also be analysed through **interpolation** methods, such as KDE, which describe the spatial distribution of the general shipping or for specific vessel types recorded by the visual monitoring protocols. Some authors spatially compared the obtained high traffic areas, defined by a threshold of the 70% isopleths, with species observations or distribution models (Campana et al, 2022; Scuderi et al, 2024). SDM can be also compared with maritime traffic distribution models (Pennino et al, 2017; Di-Méglio et al, 2018; Ham et al, 2021); in some cases, geographic predictors have been used in both modelling approaches and direct comparison between the resulting distributions allowed identifying potential overlapping areas (Pennino et al, 2017).

Given the known risk of **ship strike** for large whales, likely due to their reduced mobility and longer periods spent at the surface between dives (Laist et al, 2001), there is increased interest in quantifying "dangerous" encounters between ships and whales that do not result in a collision as a proxy for actual strikes (i.e., <u>Near Miss Events</u>, NME, David et al, 2022; ORCA, 2023; Scuderi et al, 2024). Direct observations have been conducted from large vessels in different marine regions, such as Alaska, Bay of Biscay (ORCA, 2023), NW Mediterranean (David et al, 2022), Strait of Gibraltar (Scuderi et al, 2024): in this way, important behavioural information can be provided to understand how whales perceive



and react to large ships and to identify at what point the whale's behaviour changes in relation to the vessel, defining the 'critical zone' (ORCA, 2023). David et al (2022) computed an NME rate and density index per cell, evidencing the areas of higher probability for ship strike occurrence. A collision risk index was instead calculated by Ham et al (2021), by multiplying the probability of whale occurrence predicted by modelling and the ferry density obtained from the AIS data processing. Similarly, a collision rate was estimated by Di Méglio et al (2018), by considering also the trajectories, distance travelled and the number of passages for each ship category in each cell.

From a conservation perspective, the reduction of the speed of vessels (IWC, 2023) is an effective measure to reduce the risk of ship strikes that can be proposed in areas where no spatial separation is possible (Scuderi et al, 2024).

## 5.2 Marine litter

The complex path of marine litter, from the source to dispersal, through fragmentation and accumulation processes, determines interactions with marine life at various levels, which cause detrimental effects, mostly dependent on the litter type and size and on the organism affected. Several types of litter are present in the marine environment, but plastic items are widely recognised as the most widespread, endangering organisms from all trophic chain levels, mostly through ingestion and entanglement (CBD, 2012). Risk-exposure studies identify the areas with high potential for interactions where marine litter accumulations overlap with the presence of target marine species (Arcangeli et al, *in press*).

Information on marine litter amount and distribution, and on its potential impacts on marine organisms, are required to assess GES within Descriptor 10 of the MSFD. Monitoring of floating marine macro litter (FMML) has been implemented within existing research programmes using large vessels as platforms of observation, namely by the FLT MED NET. FMML monitoring is carried out synoptically with marine species observations and allows the detection of areas of concurrent presence of litter and vulnerable species.

The quantification of the FMML is obtained by applying two main approaches: the FLT MED NET applies a standardised protocol based on the MSFD Guidelines, which defines a **strip transect**, in which litter density can be computed as:

## Number of items/(Transect length\*Width of the strip)



(Campana et al, 2018; Arcangeli et al, 2019; Gregorietti et al, 2021; Atzori et al, 2021; Campana et al, 2022).

Other authors apply the **distance sampling** method, in order to obtain the correct items density over the monitored area (Sá et al, 2021).

In all cases, litter densities can be standardised over grid cells and generalised through **KDE**. High density areas, where the overlap with target species presence is computed, are defined by setting a threshold according to the study area and target species (70-90% isopleths) or considering different levels of density (10%, 50% and 70%, Sá et al, 2021). Some authors also applied specific analyses to evidence the hotspots of marine litter, such as G\* analysis (Getis and Ord, 1992), or Average Nearest Neighbor analysis (Arcangeli et al, 2019; Gregorietti et al, 2021).

To evaluate the **overlap** of high accumulation of marine litter with the target species, the percentage of sightings falling within high density areas can be considered (Campana et al, 2018; Arcangeli et al, 2019). Conversely, the number of floating items falling within a buffered area around the species sightings can be counted, in order to highlight the percentage of animals exposed to plastic and the number of items surrounding the individuals (Arcangeli et al, 2019). In many cases, the KDE is also calculated for the species, reporting the overlap with marine litter as a percentage of the species generalised distribution (Arcangeli et al, 2019; Atzori et al, 2021; Gregorietti et al, 2021; Sá et al, 2021).

A more detailed analysis can be performed by calculating **risk indices** that combine densities of sensitive species (as density or ER) and threat (density), on a grid basis. The product of the species and the litter densities, weighed by the survey effort, provides a layer that represents co-occurrence and potential risk (Arcangeli et al, 2019; Sá et al, 2021; Atzori et al, 2021; Gregorietti et al, 2021); areas of interaction risk can be estimated through inverse distance weighted interpolation (Sá et al, 2021). The same approach has been applied by Campana et al (2022) by considering both marine litter and maritime traffic in the risk index.

## 5.3 Climate change

Among the potential threats caused by the increased anthropization, climate change is certainly the most global one, but with yet less predictable effects. Indeed, climate change not only involves the increase of temperatures, both of the atmosphere and the oceans, but also a raise in the oceanic level, extreme weather events, heat waves, drought, and other phenomena that could produce a number of impacts over marine species, and marine biodiversity in general, which are difficult to foresee.



It has been demonstrated that climate change may affect the composition and structure of ecological communities, also in the marine environment, where one of the measurable effects is the gradual replacement of cold-water species by warmer water ones (e.g., MacLeod et al, 2005). Such shifts in the composition and structure of communities, which also affect cetacean and sea turtle species, could be assessed by comparing their sightings frequencies and relative abundances from previous studies (MacLeod et al, 2005) or within a long-term monitoring effort of the same marine area (e.g., MacLeod et al, 2009), such that carried out within the MTT project (e.g., Arcangeli et al, 2013).

Cetacean species may also respond to the increase in water temperature by changing their range. Knowledge of the climatic preferences and other aspects of the ecology of species, such as their trophic ecology, allows producing predictions of how individual species would react to the climate change effects. In his review of the potential implications of climate change on cetacean populations, MacLeod (2009) predicted that changes in water temperature resulting from global climate change may affect the ranges of 88% of cetaceans, with unfavourable conservation implications for the conservation of 47% of the species, and leading to the risk of extinction at least one geographically isolated population of 21% of the species. The consequences of these changes are difficult to predict, but may include competitive interactions, in which new species exclude existing species from some or all of their current range and/or preferred habitats; the introduction of novel pathogens and/or parasites caused by the novel mixing of species, or of previously isolated populations of the same species, loss of genetic uniqueness of previously isolated populations (MacLeod, 2009).

In this scenario, the long-term assessment of the habitat and range of cetacean and sea turtle populations, other than to respond to the EU environmental regulation requirements, is of extreme importance to determine the potential impacts of climate change. This information, coupled with data on the trends of sea surface temperature and other environmental parameters, can be used to feed prediction models to assess the potential impact on populations under different climate change scenarios, and identify potential areas and species at higher risk due to their geographic characteristics and/or sensitivity to the increase of temperature. Long term monitoring programmes such that developed within the MTT project are able to provide extremely useful data on the species distribution, range and habitat use, and on the evolution of environmental parameters that could determine their modification over time, in relation to climate change effects or in response to a combination of other anthropogenic stressors.

## 5.4 Environmental DNA data and other environmental samples



The network of commercial vessels travelling along fixed routes that serves as platform for the visual observations of large marine fauna within the MTT project also offers the opportunity to collect other information and/or samples that could be relevant to feed EU environmental directives.

#### Environmental parameters

During navigation, samples of the water collected for the engine cooling system can be easily collected by dedicated researchers placed in the engine room for research purposes. Chemo-physical analyses can be performed to assess, e.g., the salinity and temperature of the water, along with its chemical composition. This information is of relevance, among others, for some of the MSFD Descriptors, such as D7 (hydrological conditions), which considers salinity, temperature, presence of nutrients, among the parameters relevant to the assessment of GES. On a longer term, the analysis of variations or trend in the measured environmental parameters could be used to support climate change studies.

#### Stable Isotope Analysis (SIA)

Similarly, samples of water could also be used to analyse the stable Isotopes of C, N or O, or those of other elements. This technique allows providing a baseline of the trophic web (the so-called *isoscape*, Graham et al, 2009), which is then useful to assess the diet, feeding ecology, movements and migration patterns of larger organisms, including cetaceans and sea turtles. This information, in turn, would also complement the data provided by visual surveys for the assessment of population range and habitat parameters within the relevant EU directives. On a longer term, the assessment of variations in stable isotope values, and consequently of isoscapes, could provide useful information to feed climate change models and assess its impacts on marine trophic webs.

#### eDNA sampling

Sophisticated molecular investigation techniques such as the Next Generation Sequencing allow sequencing different DNAs within a single environmental sample. Thanks to these developments, the analysis of marine environmental DNA (eDNA) has become a widespread technique, which has been proposed as an alternative approach to monitor the status of biodiversity and its variations over time (Valsecchi, 2021), and could complement the information provided by the "traditional" visual surveys and analyses to feed the requirements of the EU directives. The same samples of water collected, as described above, to assess environmental parameters and perform SIA, could also be used for eDNA analyses, to perform systematic surveys on marine biodiversity that cope with the cost constraints of using dedicated vessels, and allow assessing species composition also during night hours, when visual surveys cannot be performed. Rare species, such as the monk seal (*M. monachus*) can be detected by this technique long before they are visually observed (Valsecchi et al, 2021), and seasonal or long-term variations of species composition could be assessed through repeated sampling (Boldrocchi et al, 2023). Pilot studies carried out within the FLT MED NET demonstrated that commercial ships can be used as



platforms for eDNA marine sampling. Systematic eDNA samplings over regular transects contribute to the assessment of marine biodiversity (Valsecchi, 2021), and provide useful information regarding the range of populations and other parameters required for environmental and species assessment within relevant EU legislation.



## 6 Final remarks

In this report, the available literature produced by the different networks involved in the MTT project was considered to address the data analyses performed to respond to the relevant EU environmental regulative framework for the conservation of large marine vertebrates. The review pointed out to some general highlights:

- ✓ Data obtained from systematic surveys from large vessels can be effectively used to respond to policy requirements on the Parameters "population", "range", "habitat";
- ✓ Systematic surveys are relevant to investigate fine-scale temporal variations and produce consistent datasets over long time periods;
- ✓ To date, even if long-term data series are available, they are not sufficiently used to investigate trends, as required by EU directives;
- The use of these long-term datasets can be successfully combined with other sources of data, such as the collection of environmental parameters (temperature, salinity, etc), or of samples for environmental DNA analyses, to produce more complete and robust information on the required parameters;
- ✓ The use of further indicators is suggested to improve the definition and interpretation of parameters and trends;
- Long-term monitoring programmes such as that implemented within the MTT project can also provide detailed information on the threats that need to be addressed as required by the EU legislative framework (i.e., maritime traffic, pollution by marine litter).



## 7 References

ACCOBAMS (2022). Use of ferries as platforms of opportunity for cetacean monitoring in the ACCOBAMS area: strengthening the network. ACCOBAMS-SC14/2021/Doc12. 98 pp.

Aïssi, M., Arcangeli, A., Crosti, R., Yahia, M. D., Loussaief, B., Moulins, A., Pellegrino, G., Rosso, M., Tringali, M.L., Tepsich, P. (2015). Cetacean occurrence and spatial distribution in the central Mediterranean Sea using ferries as platform of observation. Russian Journal of Marine Biology, 41(5), 343-350. doi.org/10.1134/S1063074015050028.

Arcangeli, A., Atzori, F., Azzolin, M., Babey, L., Campana, I., Carosso, L., Crosti, R., Garcia-Garin, O., Gregorietti, M., Orasi, A., Scuderi, A., Tepsich, P., Vighi, M., David L. (2023a) Testing indicators for trend assessment of range and habitat of low-density cetacean species in the Mediterranean Sea. Frontiers in Marine Science, 10, doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2023.1116829.

Arcangeli, A., Azzolin, M., Azzolin, S., David, L., Favaro, L., Gamba, M., Giacoma, C., Tepsich, P., Maffucci, F., Pasanisi, E., Santini, E. (2022). Synthesis of available indicators, approaches, potential thresholds and data needed by the different legal framework for CEPTU species status assessment. LIFE CONCEPTU MARIS CONservation of CEtaceans and Pelagic sea TUrtles in Med: Managing Actions for their Recovery In Sustainability - Deliverable A2.3. October 2022.

Arcangeli, A., Campana, I., Bologna, M. A. (2017). Influence of seasonality on cetacean diversity, abundance, distribution and habitat use in western Mediterranean Sea: implications for conservation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 27(5), 995-1010. doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2758.

Arcangeli, A., Campana, I., Marini, L., MacLeod, C. (2016). Long-term presence and habitat use of Cuvier's beaked whale (*Ziphius cavirostris*) in the central Tyrrhenian Sea. Marine Ecology, 37, 269-282. doi.org/10.1111/maec.12272.

Arcangeli, A. Cominelli, S., David, L., Di-Meglio, N., Moulins, P., Mayol, P., Marini, L., Rosso, M., Tepsich, P. (2014b). Seasonal monitoring of cetaceans and validation of the REPCET system in terms of monitoring. Scientific reports of the Port-Cros national park, 28, 37-48.

Arcangeli, A., Crosti, R., Campana, I., Carosso, L., Gregorietti, M., Mainardi, G., Mazzucato, V., Castelli, A. (2021). Long-term fixed transect based monitoring for the surveillance of the conservation status of *Tursiops truncatus* in a marine EU Natura2000 site in the Mediterranean Sea. A pilot study in the Tuscan Archipelago. Mediterranean Marine Science, 22 (2), 340–346. doi.org/10.12681/mms.24562.



Arcangeli, A., Gregorietti, M., Pasanisi, E., Santini, E., Campana, I, Sarà, G. (*in press*). Potential risk of floating marine litter to cetaceans and sea turtles: A review of spatial risk exposure assessments. OMBAR, Vol.62, *in press*.

Arcangeli, A., Maffucci, F., Atzori, F., Azzolin, M., Campana, I., Carosso, L., Crosti, R., Frau, F., David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Roul, M., Gregorietti, M., Mazzucato, V., Pellegrino, G., Giacoletti, A., Paraboschi, M., Zampollo, A., De Lucia, G. A., Hochscheid, S. (2019). Turtles on the trash track: loggerhead turtle exposed to floating plastic in the Mediterranean Sea. Endangered Species Research, 40, 107-121. doi.org/10.3354/esr00980.

Arcangeli, A., Marini, L., Crosti, R. (2013). Changes in cetacean presence, relative abundance and distribution over 20 years along a trans-regional fixed line transect in the Central Tyrrhenian Sea. Marine Ecology, 34(1), 112-121. doi.org/10.1111/maec.12006.

Arcangeli, A., Orasi, A., Carcassi, S. P., Crosti, R. (2014a). Exploring thermal and trophic preference of *Balaenoptera physalus* in the central Tyrrhenian Sea: a new summer feeding ground? Marine Biology, 161(2), 427-436. doi.org/10.1007/s00227-013-2348-8.

Arcangeli, A. et al (*in prep*). Comparative Species Distribution Models effectiveness for modelling habitat suitability of low-density cetaceans' species, *G.griseus, G.melas, Z.cavirostris,* in the Mediterranean Sea using long-term data collected along fixed sampled transects.

Atzori, F., Carosso, L., Cadoni, N., Frau, F., Gutierrez, M. L. G., De Lucia, G. A., Gregorietti, M., Pellegrino, G., Liubartseva, S., Lecci, R., Coppini, G., Maffucci, F., Hochscheid, S., Arcangeli, A. (2021). Loggerhead sea turtle, *Caretta caretta*, presence and its exposure to floating marine litter in the Sardinia Channel and the Strait of Sicily: Results from seven years of monitoring using ferry as platform of observation. Mediterranean Marine Science, 22(2), 422-435. doi.org/10.12681/mms.25579.

Authier, M., Dorémus, G., Van Canneyt, O., Boubert, J. J., Gautier, G., Doray, M., Duhamel, E., Masse, J., Petitgas, P., Ridoux, V., Spitz, J. (2018). Exploring change in the relative abundance of marine megafauna in the Bay of Biscay, 2004–2016. Progress in Oceanography, 166, 159-167. doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2017.09.014.

Azzolin, M., Arcangeli, A., Cipriano, G., Crosti, R., Maglietta, R., Pietroluongo, G., Saintingan, S., Zampollo, A., Fanizza, C., Carlucci, R. (2020). Spatial distribution modelling of striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) at different geographical scales within the EU Adriatic and Ionian Sea Region, central-eastern Mediterranean Sea. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 30(6), 1194-1207. doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3314.



BCCEW, UNEP/MAP (2017). 6<sup>th</sup> Meeting of the Ecosystem Approach Coordination Group Athens, Greece, 11 September 2017. Agenda item 3 Review of proposed IMAP Common Indicator Guidance Facts Sheets (Biodiversity and Fisheries). 123 pp.

Bellier, E., Monestiez, P., Certain, G., Chadoeuf, J., Bretagnolle, V. (2013). Reducing the uncertainty of wildlife population abundance: model-based versus design-based estimates. Environmetrics, 24 (7), 476-488. doi.org/10.1002/env.2240.

Berrow, S., McGrath, D., O'Brien, J., O'Connor, I., Wall, D. (2012). How can we monitor the favourable conservation status of cetaceans (whales, dolphins and porpoises) in Ireland? In: Butler, F. and Kelleher, C. (Eds) *All-Ireland Mammal Symposium 2009*. The Irish Naturalists' Journal, Belfast, 14-22.

Boldrocchi, G., Conte, L., Galli, P., Bettinetti, R., Valsecchi, E. (2023). Surface-sourced eDNA to track deep-diver cetaceans: the study case of Cuvier's beaked whale (*Ziphius cavirostris*) at Caprera Canyon and surrounding areas (Western Mediterranean Sea). *bioRxiv*, 2023-11.

Börzel, T. A., Buzogány, A. (2019). Compliance with EU environmental law. The iceberg is melting. Environmental Politics, 28(2), 315-341. doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2019.1549772.

Bouveroux, T., Waggitt, J. J., Belhadjer, A., Cazenave, P. W., Evans, P. G., Kiszka, J. J. (2020). Modelling fine-scale distribution and relative abundance of harbour porpoises in the Southern Bight of the North Sea using platform-of-opportunity data. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 100, 481-489. doi.org/10.1017/S0025315420000326.

Bowen, W. D. (1997). Role of marine mammals in aquatic ecosystems. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 158, 267-274. doi.org/10.3354/meps158267.

Braun-McNeill, J., & Epperly, S. P. (2002). Spatial and temporal distribution of sea turtles in the western North Atlantic and the US Gulf of Mexico from Marine Recreational Fishery Statistics Survey (MRFSS). Marine Fisheries Review, 64 (4), 50-56. http://hdl.handle.net/1834/26356.

Brereton, T. M., Lewis, K., MacLeod, C. M. (2012). Surveys for cetaceans, seabirds and other large marine animals in the English Channel. Charm III Final Project Report, Marinelife.

Brereton, T., MacLeod, C., Wall, D., Macleod, K., Cermeño, P., Curtis, D., Zanderink, F., Benson, C., Bannon, S., Osinga, N., Martin, C. and Pinn, E. (2009). Monitoring cetaceans in UK and adjacent waters: current and potential uses of Atlantic. Research Coalition (ARC) data (2009). JNCC Report No. 481.

Brereton, T., Wall, D., Cermeno, P., Curtis, D., Vasquez, A., Williams, A. (2001). Cetacean Monitoring in North West European waters. The Atlantic Research Coalition (ARC).



Brereton, T. M., Williams, A., Martin, C. (2003). Preliminary studies in identifying cetacean indicator species to monitor the state of marine biodiversity in west European waters. Marine Life UK (Biscay Dolphin Research Program).

Brereton, T., Williams, A., and Martin, C. (2005). Ecology and status of the common dolphin *Delphinus delphis* in the English Channel and Bay of Biscay 1995-2002. In: Stockin, K., & Evans, P.G. (Eds.), *Common dolphins: Current research, threats and issues.* European Cetacean Society 18<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference, Kolmarden Djurpark, Kolmarden, Sweden. 1-39 pp.

Brereton, T. M., Williams, A. D., Williams, R. (1999). Distribution, and relative abundance of the common dolphin (*Delphinus delphis*) in the Bay of Biscay. European Research on Cetaceans, 13, 295-299.

Brereton, T., Williams, A. D., Williams, R. (2000). A low-cost method to determine bathypelagic and seasonal occupancy of fin whale *Balaenoptera physalus* in the Bay of Biscay. In: Evans, P.G.H. (Ed.) *European Research on Cetaceans*, 14, 14-18.

Buckland, S. T., Anderson, D. R., Burnham, K. P., Laake, J. L., Borchers, D. L., Thomas, L. (2001). Introduction to Distance Sampling: Estimating Abundance of Biological Populations. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 448 pp.

Campana, I., Angeletti, D., Crosti, R., Di Miccoli, V., Arcangeli, A. (2018). Seasonal patterns of floating macro-litter across the Western Mediterranean Sea: a potential threat for cetacean species. Rendiconti Lincei. Scienze Fisiche e Naturali, 29, 453-467.

Campana, I., Angeletti, D., Crosti, R., Luperini, C., Ruvolo, A., Alessandrini, A., Arcangeli, A. (2017). Seasonal characterisation of maritime traffic and the relationship with cetacean presence in the Western Mediterranean Sea. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 115(1-2), 282-291. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.12.008.

Campana, I., Angeletti, D., Giovani, G., Paraboschi, M., Arcangeli, A. (2022). Cetacean sensitivity and threats analysis to assess effectiveness of protection measures: an example of integrated approach for cetacean conservation in the Bonifacio Bouches. Biodiversity and Conservation, 31(2), 517-541. doi.org/10.1007/s10531-021-02346-w.

Campana, I., Crosti, R., Angeletti, D., Carosso, L., David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Moulins, A., Rosso, M., Tepsich, P., Arcangeli, A. (2015). Cetacean response to summer maritime traffic in the Western Mediterranean Sea. Marine Environmental Research, 109, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2015.05.009.



Campana, I., Vighi, M. (2020). Monitoring large marine vertebrates along fixed transects from ferries and cargo vessels. IMPEL report 2020/17. 93 pp.

Cañadas, A., De Soto, N. A., Aissi, M., Arcangeli, A., Azzolin, M., B-Nagy, A. et al. (2018). The challenge of habitat modelling for threatened low density species using heterogeneous data: The case of Cuvier's beaked whales in the Mediterranean. Ecological Indicators, 85, 128-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.10.021.

CBD (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel) (2012). Impacts of Marine Debris on Biodiversity: Current Status and Potential Solution. Montreal, Technical Series No. 67, 61 pp.

Cominelli, S., Moulins, A., Rosso, M., Tepsich, P. (2016). Fin whale seasonal trends in the Pelagos sanctuary, Mediterranean Sea. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 80(3), 490-499. doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.1027.

Correia, A. M., Gil, Á., Valente, R. F., Rosso, M., Sousa-Pinto, I., Pierce, G. J. (2020). Distribution of cetacean species at a large scale-Connecting continents with the Macaronesian archipelagos in the eastern North Atlantic. Diversity and Distributions, 26(10), 1234-1247. doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13127.

Correia, A. M., Gil, Á., Valente, R., Rosso, M., Pierce, G. J., Sousa-Pinto, I. (2019). Distribution and habitat modelling of common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*) in the eastern North Atlantic. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 99(6), 1443-1457. doi:10.1017/S0025315419000249.

Correia, A. M., Sousa-Guedes, D., Gil, Á., Valente, R., Rosso, M., Sousa-Pinto, I., Sillero, N., Pierce, G. J. (2021). Predicting cetacean distributions in the eastern North Atlantic to support marine management. Frontiers in Marine Science, 8, 643569. doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.643569.

Correia, A. M., Tepsich, P., Rosso, M., Caldeira, R., Sousa-Pinto, I. (2015). Cetacean occurrence and spatial distribution: Habitat modelling for offshore waters in the Portuguese EEZ (NE Atlantic). Journal of Marine Systems, 143, 73-85. doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2014.10.016.

Cotté, C., Guinet, C., Taupier-Letage, I., Mate, B., Petiau, E. (2009). Scale-dependent habitat use by a large free-ranging predator, the Mediterranean fin whale. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers, 56(5), 801-811. doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2008.12.008.

David, L., Arcangeli, A., Tepsich, P., Di-Meglio, N., Roul, M., Campana, I., Gregorietti, M., Moulins, A., Rosso, M., Crosti, R. (2022). Computing ship strikes and near miss events of fin whales along the main ferry routes in the Pelagos Sanctuary and adjacent west Area in summer. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 32(1), 1–15. doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3781.



David, L., De Jesus, M. (2023). Report of the Synergy workshop ABIOMMED/Conceptu Maris about D1C2, D1C4 and D1C5, held online on the 3<sup>rd</sup> of April 2023. ABIOMMED Project. 15pp.

David, L., De Jesus, M., Monestiez, P. (2023). Advanced draft report of the task 4.4 "Complementarity of results from different large-scale monitoring platforms", tests on indicators for distribution D1C4. ABIOMMED Project, Deliverable n°4.5. 57 pp.

David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Roul, M., Campana, I., Crosti, R., Arcangeli, A. (2020). Collecting data on cetaceans from ferries: a useful method to monitoring populations, help modelling and improve knowledge on ship strikes. Scientific Reports of the Port-Cros National Park, 34, 57-68.

DG Environment (2017). Reporting under Article 17 of the Habitats Directive: Explanatory notes and guidelines for the period 2013-2018. Brussels. Pp. 188.

Di-Méglio, N., David, L., Monestiez, P. (2018). Sperm whale ship strikes in the Pelagos Sanctuary and adjacent waters: assessing and mapping collision risks in summer. Journal of Cetacean Researach and Management, 18(1), 135-147.

Druon, J. N., Panigada, S., David, L., Gannier, A., Mayol, P., Arcangeli, A. Cañadas, A., Laran, S., Di Méglio, N., Gauffier, P. (2012). Potential feeding habitat of fin whales in the western Mediterranean Sea: an environmental niche model. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 464, 289-306. doi.org/10.3354/meps09810

Eguchi, T., Gerrodette, T., Pitman, R. L., Seminoff, J. A., Dutton, P. H. (2007). At-sea density and abundance estimates of the olive ridley turtle *Lepidochelys olivacea* in the eastern tropical Pacific. Endangered Species Research, 3(2), 191-203. doi.org/10.3354/esr003191.

Evans, P. G. H., Pierce, G. J., Wright, A. J. (2012). Marine mammal studies to address future challenges in conservation management. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 92, 1639-1644.

Falk Lindberg, L., Erika, L. (2022). Changes in cetacean presence and behavior in response to reduced marine traffic-the effects of a nationwide lockdown. (Dissertation). Retrieved from https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:hh:diva-47046.

Forney, K. A. (2000). Environmental models of cetacean abundance: reducing uncertainty in population trends. Conservation Biology, 14(5), 1271-1286.

Getis, A., Ord, J, K. (1992). The analysis of spatial association by use of distance statistics. Geographical Analysis, 24, 189–206. doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-4632.1992.tb00261.x.



Girard, F., Girard, A., Monsinjon, J., Arcangeli, A., Belda, E. J., Cardona, L., ... & Luschi, P. (2022). Toward a common approach for assessing the conservation status of marine turtle species within the European marine strategy framework directive. Frontiers in Marine Science, 9, 1-22. doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.790733.

Gnone, G., Bellingeri, M., Airoldi, S., Gonzalvo, J., David, L., Di-Méglio, N. et al. (2023). Cetaceans in the Mediterranean Sea: Encounter Rate, Dominant Species, and Diversity Hotspots. Diversity, 15(3), 321. doi.org/10.3390/d15030321

Graham, B.S., Koch, P.L., Newsome, S.D., McMahon, K.W., Aurioles, D. (2009). Using isoscapes to trace the movements and foraging behavior of top predators in oceanic ecosystems. In J. West, G.J. Bowen, T.E. Dawson, K.P. Tu (Eds) *Isoscapes: Understanding Movement, Pattern and Process on Earth Through Isotope Mapping*. pp. 299-318, Springer, New York.

Gregorietti, M., Atzori, F., Carosso, L., Frau, F., Pellegrino, G., Sara, G., Arcangeli, A. (2021). Cetacean presence and distribution in the central Mediterranean Sea and potential risks deriving from plastic pollution. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 173, 112943. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112943

Grossi F., Lahaye E., Moulins A., Borroni A., Rosso M., Tepsich P. (2021). Locating ship strike risk hotspots for fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*) and sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*) along main shipping lanes in the North-Western Mediterranean Sea. Ocean & coastal management, 212, 105820. doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2021.105820.

Halpern, B. S., Walbridge, S., Selkoe, K. A., Kappel, C. V., Micheli, F., d'Agrosa, C. et al. (2008). A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems. Science, 319(5865), 948-952. doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1149345

Ham, G. S., Lahaye, E., Rosso, M., Moulins, A., Hines, E., Tepsich, P. (2021). Predicting summer fin whale distribution in the Pelagos Sanctuary (north-western Mediterranean Sea) to identify dynamic whale–vessel collision risk areas. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 31 (8), 2257-2277. doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3614.

Hammond, P. S., Lacey, C., Gilles, A., Viquerat, S., Boerjesson, P., Herr, H., Macleod, K., Ridoux, V., Santos, M. B., Scheidat, M., Teilmann, J., Vingada, J., Oeien, N. (2017). Estimates of cetacean abundance in European Atlantic waters in summer 2016 from the SCANS-III aerial and shipboard surveys. Wageningen Marine Research.



Hengl, T., Sierdsema, H., Radović, A., Dilo, A. (2009). Spatial prediction of species' distributions from occurrence-only records: combining point pattern analysis, ENFA and regression-kriging. Ecological modelling, 220(24), 3499-3511. doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2009.06.038.

Herrera, I., Carrillo, M., Cosme de Esteban, M., Haroun, R. (2021). Distribution of cetaceans in the Canary Islands (Northeast Atlantic Ocean): implications for the natura 2000 network and future conservation measures. Frontiers in Marine Science, 8, 669790. doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.669790.

Holt, A. R., Gaston, K. J., He, F. (2002). Occupancy-abundance relationships and spatial distribution: a review. Basic and Applied Ecology, 3(1), 1-13. doi.org/10.1078/1439-1791-00083.

Howe, E., Buckland, S. T., Després-Einspenner, M. L., Kühl, H. S. (2019). Model selection with overdispersed distance sampling data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 10 (1), 38-47. doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13082.

Hoyt, E. (2011). Marine Protected Areas for Whales, Dolphins and Porpoises: A World Handbook for Cetacean Habitat Conservation. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Publisher: Routledge/Earthscan, Taylor and Francis. ISBN: 978-1-84407-763-2.

IUCN (2015). IUCN Standard for the Identification of Key Biodiversity Areas, Version 1.0 (First ed.). Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.

IUCN MMPATF (Marine Mammal Protected Areas Task Force) (2016). Initial guidance on the use of selection criteria for the identification of Important Marine Mammal Areas (IMMAs). 60 pp.

IUCN Standards and Petitions Committee (2019). Guidelines for Using the IUCN Red List Categories and Criteria. Version 14. Prepared by the Standards and Petitions Committee.

IUCN Species Survival Commission (2021). Marine Turtle Specialist Group, Cetacean Specialist Group: Red List Assessments.

IWC (2023). Ship Strikes: Collisions between Whales and Vessels. https://iwc.int/ship-strikes.

JNCC, IAMMWG (2015). The use of harbour porpoise sightings data to inform the development of Special Areas of Conservation in UK waters. JNCC Report No. 565, JNCC Peterborough.

Johannessen, J. E. D., Biuw, M., Lindstrøm, U., Ollus, V. M. S., Martín López, L. M., Gkikopoulou, K. C., Oosthuizen, W.C., Lowther, A. (2022). Intra-season variations in distribution and abundance of humpback whales in the West Antarctic Peninsula using cruise vessels as opportunistic platforms. *Ecology and Evolution*, 12(2), e8571. doi.org/10.1002/ece3.8571.



Karasiewicz, S., Dolédec, S., Lefebvre, S. (2017). Within outlying mean indexes: Refining the OMI analysis for the realized niche decomposition. PeerJ, 5, e3364. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3364.

Katsanevakis, S., Weber, A., Pipitone, C., Leopold, M., Cronin, M., Scheidat, M., de Boois, I.J., Vöge, S. (2012). Monitoring marine populations and communities: methods dealing with imperfect detectability. Aquatic Biology, 16(1), 31-52. doi.org/10.3354/ab00426.

Kiszka, J., Macleod, K., Van Canneyt, O., Walker, D., Ridoux, V. (2007). Distribution, encounter rates, and habitat characteristics of toothed cetaceans in the Bay of Biscay and adjacent waters from platform-of-opportunity data. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 64(5), 1033-1043. doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsm067.

Knowlton, A. R., Ring, J. B., Russell, B., & Aquarium, N. E. (2002). Right whale sightings and survey effort in the Mid Atlantic Region: Migratory corridor, time frame, and proximity to port entrances. *Report submitted to the NMFS Ship Strike Working Group, Silver Spring, Maryland*. [PDF available from http://www.nero.noaa.gov/shipstrike/ssr/midatanticreportrFINAL.pdf].

Laist, D. W., Knowlton, A. R., Mead, J. G., Collet, A. S., Podesta, M. (2001). Collisions between ships and whales. Marine Mammal Science, 17(1), 35-75. doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2001.tb00980.x.

Lambert, E., MacLeod, C. D., Hall, K., Brereton, T., Dunn, T. E., Wall, D., Jepson, P. D., Deaville, R., Pierce, G. J. (2011). Quantifying likely cetacean range shifts in response to global climatic change: implications for conservation strategies in a changing world. Endangered Species Research, 15(3), 205-222. Doi.org/10.3354/esr00376.

Lambert, E., Pierce, G. J., Hall, K., Brereton, T., Dunn, T. E., Wall, D., Jepson, P. D., Deaville, MacLeod, C. D. (2014). Cetacean range and climate in the eastern North Atlantic: future predictions and implications for conservation. Global change biology, 20(6), 1782-1793. doi.org/ 10.1111/gcb.12560.

Leeney, R. H., Witt, M. J., Broderick, A. C., Buchanan, J., Jarvis, D. S., Richardson, P. B., Godley, B. J. (2012). Marine megavertebrates of Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly: relative abundance and distribution. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 92(8), 1823-1833. doi.org/ 10.1017/S002531541100155X.

Leonard, D. M., & Øien, N. I. (2020). Estimated abundances of cetacean species in the Northeast Atlantic from two multiyear surveys conducted by Norwegian vessels between 2002-2013. NAMMCO Scientific Publications, 11. doi.org/10.7557/3.4695.



López, A., Pierce, G. J., Valeiras, X., Santos, M. B., Guerra, Á. (2004). Distribution patterns of small cetaceans in Galician waters. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 84, 283-294. doi.org/10.1017/S0025315404009166h.

MacLeod, C.D. (2009). Global climate change, range changes and potential implications for the conservation of marine cetaceans: a review and synthesis. Endangered Species Research 7, 125-136. doi.org/10.3354/esr00197.

MacLeod, C. D., Bannon, S. M., Pierce, G. J., Schweder, C., Learmonth, J. A., Herman, J. S., Reid, R. J. (2005). Climate change and the cetacean community of north-west Scotland. Biological Conservation, 124(4), 477-483. doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.02.004.

MacLeod, C. D., Brereton, T., Martin, C. (2009). Changes in the occurrence of common dolphins, striped dolphins and harbour porpoises in the English Channel and Bay of Biscay. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 89(5), 1059. doi.org/10.1017/S0025315408002828.

Matear, L., Robbins, J.R., Hale, M., Potts, J. (2019). Cetacean biodiversity in the Bay of Biscay: suggestions for environmental protection derived from citizen science data. Marine Policy, 109, 103672. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2019.103672.

McClellan, C.M., Brereton, T., Dell'Amico, F., Johns, D. G., Cucknell, A.C., Patrick, S.C., ... & Godley, B.J. (2014). Understanding the distribution of marine megafauna in the English Channel region: identifying key habitats for conservation within the busiest seaway on earth. PloS one, 9(2), e89720. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0089720

Monestiez, P., Dubroca, L., Bonnin, E., Durbec, J. P., Guinet, C. (2006). Geostatistical modelling of spatial distribution of Balaenoptera physalus in the Northwestern Mediterranean Sea from sparse count data and heterogeneous observation efforts. Ecological Modelling, 193(3-4), 615-628. doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.08.042.

Morgado, C., Martins, A., Rosso, M., Tepsich, P. (2017). Fin Whale presence and distribution in the Pelagos Sanctuary: temporal and spatial variability along 2 fixed-line transects monitored in 2009-2013. International Journal of Marine and Environmental Sciences, 1(1), 1-14.

Murphy, S., Evans, P. G., Pinn, E., Pierce, G. J. (2021). Conservation management of common dolphins: Lessons learned from the North-East Atlantic. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 31, 137-166. doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3212

Northridge, S. P., Tasker, M. L., Webb, A., Williams, J. M. (1995). Distribution and relative abundance of harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena* L.), white-beaked dolphins (*Lagenorhynchus albirostris* Gray),



and minke whales (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata* Lacepède) around the British Isles. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 52(1), 55-66. doi.org/10.1016/1054-3139(95)80015-8.

ORCA (2019). The State of European Cetaceans. Annual report of ORCA, 63 pp.

ORCA (2021). The State of European Cetaceans. Annual report of ORCA, 49 pp.

ORCA (2023). The State of Cetaceans. Annual report of ORCA, 35 pp.

OSPAR (2014). Joint Assessment and Monitoring Programme (JAMP) 2014 – 2023. Agreement 2014-02.

OSPAR (2019). Guidance on the Development of Status Assessments for the OSPAR List of Threatened and/or Declining Species and Habitats (Agreement 2019-05).

Pace, D. S., Giacomini, G., Campana, I., Paraboschi, M., Pellegrino, G., Silvestri, M. et al. (2019). An integrated approach for cetacean knowledge and conservation in the central Mediterranean Sea using research and social media data sources. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 29(8), 1302-1323. doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3117.

Pace, D. S., Panunzi, G., Arcangeli, A., Moro, S., Jona-Lasinio, G., Martino, S. (2022). Seasonal distribution of an opportunistic apex predator (*Tursiops truncatus*) in marine coastal habitats of the Western Mediterranean Sea. Frontiers in Marine Science, 9, 1785. doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.939692.

Palialexis, A., Connor, D., Damalas D., Gonzalvo, J., Micu, D., Mitchel, I., Korpinen, S., Rees, A. F., Somma F. (2019). Indicators for status assessment of species, relevant to MSFD Biodiversity Descriptor. EUR 29820 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, doi.org/10.2760/282667, JRC117126.

Panigada, S., Boisseau, O., Cañadas, A., Lambert, C., Laran, S., McLanaghan, R., Moscrop, A. (2021). Estimates of abundance and distribution of cetaceans, marine mega-fauna and marine litter in the Mediterranean Sea from 2018-2019 surveys. ACCOBAMS Survey Initiative Project, Monaco, 177 pp.

Parsons, E. C. M. (2016). Why IUCN should replace 'Data Deficient' conservation status with a precautionary 'Assume Threatened' status—A cetacean case study. Frontiers in Marine Science, 3, 193. doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00193.

Parsons, E. C. M., Clark, J., Warham, J., Simmonds, M. P. (2010). The conservation of British cetaceans: a review of the threats and protection afforded to whales, dolphins, and porpoises in UK waters, Part 1. Journal of International Wildlife Law & Policy, 13(1), 1-62. doi.org/10.1080/13880291003705145.



Patrício, J., Little, S., Mazik, K., Papadopoulou, K. N., Smith, C. J., Teixeira, H., ... & Elliott, M. (2016). European marine biodiversity monitoring networks: strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats. Frontiers in Marine Science, 3, 161. doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00161.

Pennino, M. G., Arcangeli, A., Prado Fonseca, V., Campana, I., Pierce, G. J., Rotta, A., Bellido, J. M. (2017). A spatially explicit risk assessment approach: Cetaceans and marine traffic in the Pelagos Sanctuary (Mediterranean Sea). PloS one, 12(6), e0179686. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179686.

Poot, M., Soldaat, L. (2022). Trendberekening boottellingen bruinvis. CBS-rapport.

Pullin, A. S., Báldi, A., Can, O. E., Dieterich, M., Kati, V., Livoreil, B., Lövei, G., Mihók, B., Nevin, O., Selva, N., Sousa-Pinto, I. (2009). Conservation Focus on Europe: Major Conservation Policy Issues That Need to Be Informed by Conservation Science. Conservation Biology, 23(4), 818–824. http://www.jstor.org/stable/29738815

Reid, J. B., Evans, P. G. H., Northridge, S. P. (2003). Atlas of Cetacean distribution in north-west European waters. Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough, ISBN 1 86107 550 2.

Reeves, R. R., Ewins, P. J., Agbayani, S., Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Kovacs, K. M., Lydersen, C., Suydam, R., Elliott, W., Polet, G., van Dijk, Y., Blijleven, R. (2013). Distribution of endemic cetaceans in relation to hydrocarbon development and commercial shipping in a warming Arctic. Marine Policy, 44, 375-389. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.10.005.

Robbins, J. R., Babey, L., Embling, C. B. (2020). Citizen science in the marine environment: estimating common dolphin densities in the north-east Atlantic. PeerJ, 8, e8335. doi.org/10.7717/peerj.8335.

Robbins, J. R., Bell, E., Potts, J., Babey, L., & Marley, S. A. (2022). Likely year-round presence of beaked whales in the Bay of Biscay. Hydrobiologia, 849(10), 2225-2239. doi.org/10.1007/s10750-022-04822-y.

Rogan, E., Cañadas, A., Macleod, K., Santos, M. B., Mikkelsen, B., Uriarte, A., Van Canneyt, O., Vázquez, J.A., Hammond, P. S. (2017). Distribution, abundance and habitat use of deep diving cetaceans in the North-East Atlantic. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 141, 8-19. doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2017.03.015

Röschel, L., Noebel, R., Stein, U., Naumann, S., Romão, C., Tryfon, E., ... & Rutherford, C. (2020). State of Nature in the EU-Methodological Paper. Methodologies under the Nature Directives Reporting 2013–2018 and Analysis for the State of Nature 2000. ETC/BD Report to the EEA. European Environment Agency: Copenhagen, Denmark.



Sá, S., Bastos-Santos, J., Araújo, H., Pereira, A. T., Ferreira, M., Sarmento, P., Vingada, J., Eira, C. (2021). Floating marine litter and their risks to cetaceans off Portugal. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 170, 112603. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112603

Santoro, R., Sperone, E., Tringali, M. L., Pellegrino, G., Giglio, G., Tripepi, S., Arcangeli, A. (2015). Summer distribution, relative abundance and encounter rates of cetaceans in the Mediterranean waters off southern Italy (western Ionian Sea and southern Tyrrhenian Sea). Mediterranean Marine Science, 16(3), 613-620. doi.org/10.12681/mms.1007.

Scuderi, A., Campana, I., Gregorietti, M., Moreno E.M., García Sanabria, J., Arcangeli, A. (2024). Tying up loose ends together: cetaceans, maritime traffic, and spatial management tools in the Strait of Gibraltar. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 34(1), e4066. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.4066.

Sergio, F., Caro, T., Brown, D., Clucas, B., Hunter, J., Ketchum, J., McHug, K., Hiraldo, F. (2008). Top predators as conservation tools: ecological rationale, assumptions, and efficacy. Annual review of ecology, evolution, and systematics, 39, 1-19. doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707.173545

Smith, B. D., Ahmed, B., Mowgli, R. M., Strindberg, S. (2008). Species occurrence and distributional ecology of nearshore cetaceans in the Bay of Bengal, Bangladesh, with abundance estimates for Irrawaddy dolphins *Orcaella brevirostris* and finless porpoises *Neophocaena phocaenoides*. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management, 10(1), 45-58.

Southall, E. J., Sims, D. W., Metcalfe, J. D., Doyle, J. I., Fanshawe, S., Lacey, C., Shrimpton J., Solandt J. L., Speedie, C. D. (2005). Spatial distribution patterns of basking sharks on the European shelf: preliminary comparison of satellite-tag geolocation, survey and public sightings data. JMBA-Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 85(5), 1083-1088. doi.org/10.1017/S0025315405012129.

Spitz J., Peltier H., Authier M. (2017). DCSMM 2012-2018 Évaluation du Bon État Écologique – Descripteur D1. Rapport Scientifique de l'Observatoire Pelagis, 160 pp.

Teixeira, H., Berg, T., Uusitalo, L., Fürhaupter, K., Heiskanen, A. S., Mazik, K., ... & Borja, À. (2016). A catalogue of marine biodiversity indicators. Frontiers in Marine Science, 3, 207. doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00207.

Tepsich, P., Schettino, I., Atzori, F., Azzolin, M., Campana, I., Carosso, L., Cominelli, S., Crosti, R., David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Frau, F., Gregorietti, M., Mazzucato, V., Monaco, C., Moulins, A., Paraboschi, M., Pellegrino, G., Rosso, M., Roul, M., Saintignan, S., Arcangeli, A. (2020). Trends in summer presence of



fin whales in the Western Mediterranean Sea Region: new insights from a long-term monitoring program. PeerJ 8, e10544. http://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10544.

UNEP/MAP (2017). IMAP Common Indicator Guidance Facts Sheets (Biodiversity and Fisheries). UN Environment/MAP, Athens, Greece 2017.

Valente, R., Correia, A. M., Gil, Á., Gonzalez Garcia, L., Sousa-Pinto, I. (2019). Baleen whales in Macaronesia: occurrence patterns revealed through a bibliographic review. Mammal Review, 49(2), 129-151. doi.org/10.1111/mam.12148.

Valsecchi, E. (2021). Scanning ferry routes: looking for eDNA traces of marine mammals and their preys. In: *ARPHA Conference Abstracts* (Vol. 4, p. e65448). Pensoft Publishers.

Valsecchi, E., Coppola, E., Pires, R., Parmegiani, A., Casiraghi, M., Galli, P., Bruno, A. (2021). Newly developed ad hoc molecular assays show how eDNA can witness and anticipate the monk seal recolonization of central Mediterranean. bioRxiv. doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.13.431078.

Vella, A. (2010). First Research Sightings of Fin Whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) in Coastal waters of the Maltese Islands, Central-Southern Mediterranean. In: Rapp. Comm. int. Mer Médit. Vol. 39, CIESM conference, Venice. p 694.

Vella, A. (2013). Cetacean, turtle and pelagic species and associations in the central-southern Mediterranean Sea: implications for conservation action. Rapp. Comm. Int. Mer Medit. Vol. 40. CIESM conference, Marseille. p 613.

Vella, J., Vella, A. (2015). 2000-2014 cetacean sighting records in the central Mediterranean region from sea-users: An evaluation of long-term trends. In: 29<sup>th</sup> ECS Conference Proceedings. 29<sup>th</sup> European Cetacean Society Conference, Malta.

Víkingsson, G. A., Pike, D. G., Desportes, G., Øien, N., Gunnlaugsson, T., Bloch, D. (2009). Distribution and abundance of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) in the Northeast and Central Atlantic as inferred from the North Atlantic Sightings Surveys 1987-2001. NAMMCO Scientific Publication, 7, 49-72.

Wall, D. (2013). Marine Mammals and Megafauna in Irish Waters-Behaviour, Distribution and Habitat Use-WP1 Monitoring Spatial and Temporal Habitat Use and Abundance of Cetaceans. Marine Research Sub-Programme (NDP 2007-'13), PBA/ME/07/005(02).

Wall, D., O'Brien, J., Meade, J., Allen, B. M. (2006). Summer distribution and relative abundance of cetaceans off the west coast of Ireland. In Biology and Environment: Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy (pp. 135-142). Royal Irish Academy.



Wells, R. S., Rhinehart, H. L., Hansen, L. J., Sweeney, J. C., Townsend, F. I., Stone, R., Casper, R. D., Scott, M. D., Hohn, A. A. Rowles, T. K. (2004). Bottlenose dolphins as marine ecosystem sentinels: developing a health monitoring system. EcoHealth, 1(3), 246-254. doi.org/10.1007/s10393-004-0094-6.

Williams, R., Hedley, S. L., Hammond, P. S. (2006). Modelling distribution and abundance of Antarctic baleen whales using ships of opportunity. Ecology and Society, 11(1), 1. http://hdl.handle.net/10023/2857.

Williams, A. D., Williams, R., Brereton, T. (2002). The sighting of pygmy killer whales (*Feresa attenuata*) in the southern Bay of Biscay and their association with cetacean calves. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 82 (3), 509-511. doi.org/ 10.1017/S0025315402005799

Williamson, M. J., ten Doeschate, M. T., Deaville, R., Brownlow, A. C., & Taylor, N. L. (2021). Cetaceans as sentinels for informing climate change policy in UK waters. Marine Policy, 131, 104634. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104634.

Zampollo, A., Arcangeli, A., Costantino, M., Mancino, C., Crosti, R., Pietroluongo, G., Giacoma, C., Azzolin, M. (2022). Seasonal niche and spatial distribution modelling of the loggerhead (*Caretta caretta*) in the Adriatic and Ionian seas. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 32(7), 1141-1155. doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3815.